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1 OEPNI NG STATEMENT OF HON. JACK REED, U.S. SENATOR FROM
2 RHODE | SLAND

3 Chai rman Reed: Let ne call the hearing to order.

4 This norning, the Commttee wll receive testinony from
5 Ceneral Wlters, Conmmander, United States European Comrand,
6 EUCOM and NATO Suprene Allied Comrander Europe, and Gener al
7 Lyons, Conmmander, United States Transportation Command,

8  TRANSCOM

9 Thank you both for the many decades of mlitary service
10 and pl ease extend our appreciation to the nen and wonen

11  serving under your conmand.

12 And Ceneral Lyons, this is likely your |ast hearing

13 before the Commttee and on behal f of ny coll eagues, | want
14 to thank you, and your famly, for a lifetine of dedication
15 and service to the nation, which continues with your son,

16 who is now a cadet at West Point. So, the tradition goes

17 forward. Thank you.

18 The security challenges in the EUCOM area of

19 responsibility grow nore conplex each year. Russia

20 continues to subvert the rul es-based international order,

21 including using mlitary force to intimdate and coerce its
22 neighbors and to undermne their sovereignty. Russia is

23 al so engaged in an ongoi ng hybrid warfare canpai gn just

24  Dpbelow the threshold of conflict that would provoke a

25 mlitary response, including disinformtion canpaigns
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targeti ng denocratic processes and fonenting discord,
extensi ve cyber espionage efforts, and the continued use of
proxy groups to further Russian interests in nunerous
countries around the world. Conbating the Russian hybrid
threat requires a whole of governnent effort.

And, Ceneral Wlters, | will be interested to hear your
views on the mlitary nmeans required as part of that whole
of governnent effort, as well as what support we can provide
our allies and partners as they seek to counter Russian
mal i gn i nfl uence.

Last week EUCOM rai sed its watch condition level in
Ukrai ne from"possible crisis" to "potential inmm nent
crisis" in response to significant Russian mlitary activity
I n Ukrai ne and across Europe. The Commttee will benefit
fromyour assessnent of the current security situation and
an update on EUCOM s engagenents with partners and allies in
response to the Ukrainian situation.

Consistent wth the 2018 National Defense Strategy,
EUCOM continues to refine the operational concepts, plans,
and progranms necessary to counter Russia in the strategic
conpetition that defines this theater. The U S. nust ensure
a conbat-credible mlitary deterrent against Russia's
anbitions to threaten the sovereignty of our allies and
partners.

Ceneral Wlters, the Commttee would |ike to hear your
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1 views on the posture and investnments necessary to attain and
2 maintain deterrence.

3 Turning to TRANSCOM the nmen and wonen of TRANSCOM

4 performduties that sustain the whole of the Departnent of
5 Defense, in protecting our nation's security. Wth the

6 conpetitive edge in its ability to deploy and sustain

7 Anerica's arned forces, TRANSCOM provi des DOD wi th uni que
8 capabilities that we have cone to expect and, perhaps too
9 frequently, take for granted. TRANSCOM forces are busy

10 supporting all of the conbatant commanders every day, and
11 without them the United States would be at a significant
12 di sadvant age al nost everywhere in the world.

13 CGeneral Lyons, |ast year you were adamant about

14 retaining air fueling capability because you felt that

15 TRANSCOM was at the m ni num acceptable | evels for neeting
16 peacetine demand for tanker capacity. This year, |

17 understand the Air Mbility Command believes that TRANSCOM
18 can rely on sone contribution of the KC 46 tankers even

19 though the KC-46 is not able to conduct unrestricted

20 operations. | would be interested in any information you
21  can share on this situation.

22 Qur gl obal transportation capability, owned or nanaged
23 by TRANSCOM has been one of our asymetric advantages for
24  many years now. However, we cannot assune that potentia

25 adversaries will allow us free reinin this area in the
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future. Two years ago, the Conmittee decided that the
Departnment needed to continue the analytical effort to
Identify requirenments because the studies presented at that
time did not reflect inplenentation of the National Defense
Strategy. General Lyons, perhaps you could give us an
updat e on where TRANSCOM stands in updating this analysis.

General Lyons, you have initiated a programto contract
out managenent of the Defense Personal Property Program
(DP3) that handl es the novenent of househol d goods for DOD.

Under this plan, a contractor team woul d be responsible
for issuing contracts to individual novers and carriers,
rather than the U. S Governnent.

After a conpetition | ast year, TRANSCOM awar ded t he
contract, but the losing bidders protested the award, and
GAO uphel d the protest. Ceneral Lyons, | would be
I nterested in hearing about the status of this program

Finally, TRANSCOM al so faces a uni que set of cyber
t hreats because of the conmmand' s extensive work with
private-sector entities in the transportati on and shi ppi ng
I ndustries. General Lyons, the Conmmttee would appreciate
an update on TRANSCOM s effort to inprove its cybersecurity
post ur e.

Agai n, thank you both again for being here this
nmorning, and | | ook forward to your testinony.

And before | turn it over to Senator Inhofe, | would
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1 just note, for ny colleagues, that there will be an infornal
2 classified briefing imediately following this session in
3 the Senate Security Building Ofice in the [inaudible].

4 Senat or | nhofe, please?
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STATEMENT OF HON. JAMES | NHOFE, U.S. SENATOR FROM
OKLAHOVA

Senat or I nhofe: Thank you, M. Chairnman.

And | woul d just acknow edge both of our w tnesses as
very good friends and | would say to CGeneral Lyons, it is
not too |late to change your m nd.

As stated, many tines before, this commttee's top
priority is to ensure the effective inplenentation of the
NDS, the National Defense Strategy, which focuses on China
and Russia as the primary threats to our national security.

That neans that we have to ensure that our conbatant
conmmands have what they need to address the challenges in
this strategic conpetition. And we are going to be talking
about that with both of our w tnesses, and you have got to
be really, and | amsure you will be, very straightforward
with sone of the reductions that, as | see, are not going to
be desirabl e.

I want to highlight that Russia's recent activities
regardi ng Ukrai ne are very concerning. At the sane tine,
Russi a and China, these threats are converging in Europe
Wi th an ever-nore aggressive China seeking influence and
t hreateni ng security through the econom c coercion.

These growing threats, there are three that highlight
the value of our 2018 NDS and, secondly, they illustrate why

we shoul d not be reduci ng defense spending, and, thirdly,

800.FOR.DEPO
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1 denonstrate the critical need for nore advanced capabilities
2 like the F-35, to detour Russia, particularly since there

3 have been sone controversy over that from sone of the

4 | eadership of this adm nistration.

5 TRANSCOM i s focused on a full-spectrumnobility

6 operations to neet requirenments needed to conbat both,

7 Russia and China, as well as support any other gl obal

8 engagenents, fromtraining to force projection to forward

9 depl oyed forces.

10 And | encouraged to hear the administration's voice's
11  strong support for NATO but, you know, the rhetoric is

12 easy. W want to neke sure we have the resources to support
13 those statenments that are bei ng nade.

14 Ceneral Wlters, | look forward to hearing about the
15 priorities for the European Deterrence Initiative and where
16 else we need to bol ster our defenses to address threats you
17 see growi ng every day.

18 CGeneral Lyons, | would like to know the status of our
19 refueling capability that the chairman has al ways addressed,
20 as well as, he has addressed the gl obal househol d goods

21 contacts. W have sone specific questions about that.

22 And, finally, whether this norning or in our classified
23 session, | would like to hear fromboth of you as to how

24  this contested environnment inpacts nobility operations.

25 Ceneral Lyons, you have been a friend for a long tine,
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1 and as | said, it is not too | ate.

2 M. Chairman?
3 Chai rman Reed: Thank you very nuch, Senator [ nhofe.
4 Now, | et me recogni ze General Wlters for your opening

5 stat enent.
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STATEMENT OF GENERAL TOD D. WOLTERS, COMVANDER, UNI TED
STATES EURCPEAN COMVAND/ NORTH ATLANTI C TREATY ORGANI ZATI ON
SUPREME ALLI ED COMVANDER EUROPE

General Wlters: Chairman Reed, Ranking Menber | nhofe,
di sti ngui shed nmenbers of the conmttee, on behalf of the
men, wonen, and famlies who so | have the nation in the
Euro-Atl antic, we want to thank you one nore tine for your
st eadfast support. It remains a privilege to serve
al ongsi de these patriots and our |like-mnded allies and
partners.

It is great to be |lying abreast with our distinguished
USTRANSCOM commander, General Steve Lyons. He has led with
distinction for the last 2 and a half years in his capacity
and over the |ast year, he has been pivotal in not allow ng
the pandemc to transforminto a security crisis, and we
thank himfor his blood, sweat, and tears to the nation.

W would also Iike to pass our condol ences to those
| npacted by COVID- 19. The battle against the virus
continues and we nust renmain vigilant.

W are fully aligned with Secretary Austin's priorities
to defend the nation, take care of our people, and succeed
t hrough teammork. Via NATO, we work closely with our allies
and partners to address the evol ving chal |l enges posed by our
adversaries to secure peace, and protect our interests

abroad. NATO remains the strategic center of gravity and

10
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t he foundati on of deterrence and assurance in Europe.

Everything we do is about generating peace. W conpete
town. W deter, and if deterrence fails, we are prepared
to respond to aggression with the full weight of the
Transatl antic Al liance.

The United States' relationships with European allies
and partners remains a key, strategic advantage and we nust
defend it. W live in an increasingly conplex and contested
world. Political uncertainty, energy conpetition, and
di ffusion of disruptive technology are stressing the
establ i shed rul es-based international order. Threats and
chal l engers seek to take advantage of these conditions
t hrough aggressive action using all instrunents of nationa
power and they are backed by increasingly capable mlitary
forces. Adversaries anplify these malign activities and
foster instability with disinformation.

Success in Twenty-First Century warfare demands that we
enbrace conpetition and all of its associated activities
bel ow the | evel of arned conflict. This is actually as
critical as our preparation for crisis or conflict,
thenselves. W are in an era of strategic conpetition and
winning in this erais all about ensuring that strategic
conpetition does not norph into a global conflict.

One not abl e exanpl e of operations, activities, and

I nvestments contributing to conpetition and deterrence, it

11
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1 is our robust exercise program This sumrer, when we

2 execute our Defender series exercises, conposed of USEUCOM s
3 Def ender Europe, and NATO s steadfast defender, 30,000 U.S.
4 servicenenbers, allies, and partners fromall warfare

5 domains, wll denonstrate their ability to lift and shift

6 massive forces over |large swaths of territory at speed, and
7 at scale, fromthe Atlantic, to the eastern periphery of the
8 European continent. And once our troopers are on station,

9 they will sharpen their responsiveness, resiliency, and

10 lethality.

11 Qur current security posture is strong, yet challenged,
12 as evidenced by actions in the vicinity of Wkraine. W

13  possess conbat-credi ble capability across all domains: air,
14 | and, sea, space, and cyber. W wll maintain and work to
15 hone this capability to deter our adversaries and defensive
16 partners in our interests.

17 The soldiers, sailors, airnmen, Mrines, guardians,

18 Coast Guardsnen, and civilians of USEUCOM appreciate your

19 support to defend the honel and forward and preserve peace

20 for the 1 billion citizens living in the Euro-Atlantic.
21 Chai rman Reed, Ranki ng Menber |nhofe, thank you, again,
22 for this opportunity, and | | ook forward to fielding your

23  questions.
24 [ The prepared of Ceneral Wlters follows:]

25
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1 Chai rman Reed: Thank you very much, General Wl ters.

2 Now, | et me recogni ze General Lyons.
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STATEMENT OF GENERAL STEPHEN R. LYONS, COMVANDER
UNI TED STATES TRANSPORTATI ON COMVAND

Ceneral Lyons: Chairman, can you hear ne okay?

Chairman Reed: Geat. Yes, sir.

Ceneral Lyons: Chairman Reed, Ranking Menber | nhofe,
and di stingui shed nenbers of the commttee, it is ny
di stinct pleasure, once again, to represent the nenbers of
the United States Transportation Conmand that are operating
around the gl obal every day, 24 hours a day, 7 days a week.

| have the privilege today to be joined by our new
senior enlisted | eader, Fleet Master Sergeant Mrick, and it
IS great to have hi monboard.

Let nme just say again that our enduring purpose at
TRANSCOM is to project and sustain mlitary forces globally
at our tine and place of choosing. Providing our national
| eadership with the strategi c conparati ve advantage and a
wi de range of options to enable the advancenent of U.S.
national interests, assure our allies and partners, and if
necessary, respond with a decisive force to wn.

G ven the unprecedented chall enges amd the COvID- 19
pandenmic, | could not be nore proud of the nen and wonen of
TRANSCOM who have continued their inpressive support to the
joint force and support to whole or Governnent efforts to
hel p Anerican citizens at hone.

| would particularly like to highlight our air

www.trustpoint.one 800.FOR.DEPO
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1 conponent's rapid fielding capability to nove highly

2 infectious patients, which was nation prior to the pandem c.
3 | appreciate the Commttee's continued support on
4 inportant global nobility issues, including sealift

5 recapitalization, aerial refueling, defense personal

6 property, as well as your acknow edgnment of the future

7 challenges and | ogi stics operations under all domain

8 persistent attack.

9 Today, | am absolutely honored to join General Tod
10 Wlters and pleased to play a supporting role in his w de-
11  rangi ng European defense initiatives. Thank you for your
12 | eadershi p and support and for our inpressive TRANSCOM
13 teammates, and | | ook forward to your questions.

14 [ The prepared statenent of General Lyons foll ows:]
15
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Chai rman Reed: Thank you very nuch, General Lyons.

And before we begin the questioning, let ne just rem nd
nmy coll eagues, due to the nature of the hybrid format we are
using today, we will handle the order of questions by
seniority, alternating sides until we have gone through
everyone, and if there is anyone we have m ssed we will go
back.

And we will use the standard 5-minute rounds. | am
going to ask ny coll eagues to keep a watch on the cl ock.

And, finally, if you aren't engaged, please keep your
m crophones nuted. Thank you very, very nuch.

Ceneral Wlters, today, it was reported that Secretary
Austin announced an additional 500 troops going into Europe,
whi ch seens to be a reversal of the Trunp adm nistration's
proposals to reduce forces in Europe.

Can you comrent on this increase in forces.

General Wlters: | can, Chairnman.

W are very expedited. They are part of the previous
tranche of forces that were nest underneath DP2, Deci sion
Program 2, and its focus is to deliver a nmulti-domain task
force in a joint-theater spy organization to W esbaden,
Germany, and that will be approximately 500 soldiers. And
that will inprove our ability, in all domains, to bring
fires fromthe surface-to-surface dinmension to increase our

ability to deter.

800.FOR.DEPO
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Chai rman Reed: Fromyour first review of the proposed
budget, do you feel that you will have adequate resources to
nmeet all of your obligations?

General Wlters: W do, Chairman, but as you well
know, we are always interested in working to increase our
conpetitive advantage. But we do have the adequate
resour ces.

Chai rman Reed: Thank you very much

Ceneral Lyons, as | indicated in nmy opening remarks, we
have asked for the nobility requirement study. It is stil
in the works. Wen will we see that report and can you give
us sone initial reactions to date as to what your
prognostication is about the report.

Ceneral Lyons: Chairman, let ne first say thank you
for your continued advocating and support, as you have
directed nultiple Mbility Capabilities and Requirenents
Study. And the 2020 study is due to be delivered in June,

m d- June.

| can tell you, you know, as a task for the study, it
was to assess the programforce. W are |ooking at that in
t he context of our current demands in ternms of war plans,
but also in future concepts. As we |ook at that, there are
sone areas we see Will require sone work in sone areas of
el evated ri sk.

I would just ask for your continued support for

17
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exanple, for sealift nodernization, which this Commttee has
been very supportive in our efforts to do so, thus far.

And so, without getting too far ahead of the analysis,
because | want the analysis to drive the conclusions, that
report is due to you soon, sSir.

Chai rman Reed: Thank you, sir.

One of the issues, and it represents the transition
from beni gn areas of operations, particularly for |ogistics
to contested operations, is the problemof potenti al
attrition during wartine.

And do you feel that that will be adequately addressed
In the study?

CGeneral Lyons: Senator, we certainly are | ooking at
contested environnents. There is no question that we can't
assune that we can depl oy when we want, and how we want,
where we want, perhaps as we have been able to do in the
| ast several decades.

But as we |l ook to attrition, per se, in terns of force-
sizing, as a departnental policy, we don't include attrition
in the force-sizing construct, but we do understand the
i nplications for contested environnents on our ability to
support a particular COCOM or the Departnent's priorities,
and so, we will see that in elevated ri sk.

I would just offer, though, that and often is the case,

the solution may not be in nore capacity, in nobility

18
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capacity, but nay conme in better integration of our
war fighting functions, like protection, fires, intelligence,
sustai nnent, et cetera.

So, as we look to the future, we know we have to nove
in that direction, and | amvery pleased to see the chairman
and the Departnent, you know, identifying that as a mgajor
line of effort in our joint warfighting concept.

Chai rman Reed: Well, thank you.

Ceneral Wlters and al so General Lyons, this goes to a
poi nt of our effective connectivity that every part of the
operation can tal k uninterruptedly and hopeful ly encrypted.

Is that sonething that you and General Nakasone are
working on with others, Ceneral Wlters?

General Wlters: W are, Chairman.

One of our key pillars in our overall canpaign to
effectively win in conpetition is to continually inprove our
command and control and communi cations, and to do so in al
domains. And we are really pleased to report that with
General Nakasone being the sole mlitary commander in U. S.
mlitary cyber domain, the direction and gui dance has been
much cl earer over the course of the |ast 24 nonths and we
have been able to nake inprovenents in Europe, with respect
to our ability to conmand and control .

Chai rman Reed: Thank you.

And Ceneral Lyons, quick comments, please.
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General Lyons: Yes, sir. | would just reenforce cyber
resiliency continues to remain a top priority for the
command.

Gener al Nakasone, the NSA, CYBERCOM has been
extraordinarily supportive; in fact, we are his test bed for
Zero Trust principles, and we have taken many ot her
initiatives to buy down cyber ri sk.

Chai rman Reed: Thank you very nuch, sir.

Senator | nhofe, please.

Senator I nhofe: Thank you, M. Chairnman.

General Wlters, | would just like to ask, | have 3
questions that | amgoing to try to get around in this short
period of tinme.

In the book, and we have all been tal king about this
now, ever since 2018 when this canme out, the recommendati on
said it is going to take 3 to 5 percent real annual Defense
spending growth to inplenent the NDS and | really believe
that is true.

Now, the current budget doesn't even keep even, keep up
with inflation. Now, this is kind of an "if" question,
General Wlters. |If the Defense budget shrinks and the
European Deterrence Initiative gets cut, what would be the
| npact to your efforts in Europe, just off the top, if that
happens.

General Wlters: Senator, it would sl ow down our

20
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canpai gn nonentum that we have been able to sustain for the
| ast 4 years in inproving our indications and warni ngs, our
command and control, and our readi ness.

Senat or I nhofe: Yeah. ay. Thank you very mnuch.

Now, Ceneral Wlters, | also nentioned, you and I
tal ked about this in nmy office, it is unfortunate, but a | ot
of people in this admnistration are tal king about the F-35
and some don't think it is worth the resources that it is
detracting from ot her areas.

And | am so thankful that | have the nmenory of what
happened back in, actually, it started out when | was in the
House of Representatives, on The House Arned Services
Conmittee, on the F-22. The F-22 and the F-35 are the only
two vehicles out there in the fifth generation. So, the F-
22 was the first one.

We started out with, the goal was 700 copies were going
to come and they started whittling dowmn. It started,
actually, when | was still over in the House side, and it
went down to, from 700 to, increnentally reduced to,
ultimately, it got down to, what was it, 187 F-22s. And we
knew that was a m stake at that tine. And the reason |
bring that up is that right now we have Russia and Chi na
pursuing their own fifth generation prograns |ike the J-20
and the Su-57.

How concerned are you about our great power
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conpetitors' fifth generation capabilities, and how
I mportant is the F-35 to deter these threats in Europe?

Ceneral Wlters: Senator, the F-35 is very inportant.

As | nentioned in ny opening comrents, our disposition,
fromthe mlitary perspective, is strong, yet chall enged,
and part of that challenge is the evolution of the Su-37,
fifth-generation aircraft, on behalf of the Russians. And
we, inthe US., need F-35s in Europe, which will begin to
show up in the fall of 2021, to ensure that we have the
conpetitive advantage necessary to protect our sovereign
territory.

Senator Inhofe: Al right. That is good.

And during |l ast year's posture hearing, General Lyons,
you testified that the Air Force's divestnent of the KC- 135
and the KC-10 woul d put TRANSCOM bel ow its m ni num
requi rements, and that is in light of the fact that the KC
46 didn't cone out the way we wanted it to, and yet, it took
action fromthe NDAA from 2020 to reverse the nunber of
t hose di vestnents to ensure that TRANSCOM has enough
refueling capacity to neet the requirenents.

Now, | would have to say, and you may want to el aborate
on this maybe for the record, but | ook at this and say,
what is wong wth our requirenents process when Congress
has to step in to ensure they have enough tanker aircraft to

stay the m ssion ready.
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| nmean, your observation was right, that it took us
action to make sure that that happened in our fiscal year
2021 NDAA.

Does anything conme to your mnd as in terns of why it
IS necessary for us to do this and why this couldn't have
been done before our action was necessary?

General Lyons: Well, Senator, first, | want to thank
you for your support on the issue of aerial refuel, which is
such a critical force elenent, and basically the |ifebl ood
for the joint force, in terns of our weapon systens.

Last year, you asked the question, what was the
I nplications operationally to delay the Boeing KC 46
delivery?

And based on the retirenent profile, the war
I nplications, and the active-duty conponent to respond to
day-to-day crisis, | am happy and pleased to report to you
this year that we are in a nuch better position. W have a
very good alignnment between the Departnent, between Air
Force, and TRANSCOM The Air Force has stepped forward with
interimcapability wth the KC 46.

W still have a long way to go, but | amvery, very
confortable with where we are with the Air Force. The Ar
Force has really stepped into position.

Senator Inhofe: So, you think that that has been

corrected?
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General Lyons: | do, sir. It has been.

Senator Inhofe: Al right. Thank you very nuch.

M. Chairman?

Chairman Reed: Thank you very nuch, Senator [ nhofe.

Senat or Shaheen, pl ease.

Senat or Shaheen: Thank you.

And thank you to both of you, General Wlters and
General Lyons, for your service and for being here this
mor ni ng.

General Wolters, | specially appreciated our
conversation yesterday, and one of the things you nentioned
I n your opening remarks that we di scussed briefly, is the
bui | dup of Russian forces on the border of Ukraine.

Do you have any view about what Russia is doing, are
they preparing for potential offenses? |Is this consistent
W th past Russian posturing? Wat are they doing?

CGeneral Wlters: Senator, we have categorized their
actions into 4 separate categories and | would enjoy the
opportunity at a different security environnment to be able
to address that.

But what | can say is, nunber one, there has been an
I nject of a very sizable ground domain force on behal f of
the Russians, a notable Air Force injection, and a notable
maritime force injection. And it is of the size and scale

and scope that is of great concern, and it mrrors the size
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and scope and scale of the infiltration of forces that
occurred back in 2014.

So, we are remaining very, very vigilant, keeping as
many options open as possible, and obviously very concerned.

Senat or Shaheen: Thank you. | |ook forward to hearing
your conmments in the classified session.

As the adm nistration considers the best way forward in
Af ghani stan, can you tell us what you think would be the
nost significant inpact of the withdrawal of American troops
by May 1 or shortly thereafter. How would that influence
both, NATO s role and what we m ght expect on the ground in
Af ghani st an?

General Wlters: Senator, our nunber one concern at
USEUCOM and ny nunber one concern with ny NATO head
[inaudible] is the force protection considerations for al
of our U. S. servicenenbers and all of our NATO
servi cenmenbers in whatever transaction that we engage in.

Senat or Shaheen: Thank you. | would, again, urge NATO
and everyone who is part of our mission, to include wonen at
t he negotiating table, because we know that has a positive
i npact on the stability of negotiations.

CGeneral Lyons, last spring, this is really to follow up
on Senator's I nhofe's comments about the KC 46, because | ast
spring, you expressed real concerns about the retirenment of

| egacy refueling tankers, due to the delays with the KC- 46,
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and you had a brief exchange just know about that. But it
sounds |ike you may begin to assign KC-46 air crews to
operational mssions as early that has sunmer.

So, what has changed and why do you feel Iike we should
begi n doing that as early that has summer?

CGeneral Lyons: Ma'am a couple of things have changed
since we tal ked about this |ast year. The first and
probably nost inportant is that Boei ng acknow edged and
agreed that they had the responsibility to fix the cat 1
deficiencies on the jet on the weapons system

So, in that context, the Air Force has gone to work to
deliver interimcapability. It will be fully operational,
but, again, certainly conduct m ssions. And they have
presented that capability over tine, so that is inportant.
Plus, with an additional plus-up of Reserve Cuard
augnentation in a slight adjustnent in the retirenent
profile against the KC- 10, | amconfortable that we are in a
good position, based on the work the Air Force has done to
support day-to-day and crisis operations today.

Senat or Shaheen: Well, | think that is very good news.

That is, obviously, welconed news to all of the KC 46
crews, including those at the Pease National Guard Base,
where we were the first recipients of the KC46. But | want
to ask you, because | understand there is an issue that |

had not heard about with respect to the transportable
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gallery lavatory system essentially, the bathroons that
make m ssions problematic.

Is this a new probl em or have we known about this and
what is the prospect to fix it?

General Lyons: M'am on those kinds of issues, |
don't want to get in front of the Air Force. | wll defer
t he program manager.

There is a range of category deficiencies that are
bei ng worked by both, the Air Force and Boeing. | don't
know enough to comment on that particul ar issue.

Senat or Shaheen: WIIl it inpact our ability to fly
mssions with the KR-46 as early as this summer as you are
hopi ng?

Ceneral Lyons: | amnot aware of any inpact on initial
capability rel ease, but that doesn't nean that there aren't
a Wi de range of deficiencies that still need to be renedi ed
you know, by Boeing, before the jet is fully operational and
capabl e.

Senat or Shaheen: Thank you.

Thank you, M. Chairman.

Chai rman Reed: Thank you, Senator Shaheen.

Senat or W cker, please.

Senat or Wcker: Thank you very nuch, M. Chairman.

CGeneral Wlters, in a question from Senator Shaheen

about Russia, you nentioned they were increasing their
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ground, air, and maritinme efforts. |In light of that, do you
continue to support the additional two destroyers based in
Rot a?

General Wlters: | do, Senator.

And as you well know for the last 12 nonths, the
activity of the four destroyers that we have had access to,
have been pivotal in securing deterrence.

We al so see increased naritine activity in the Arctic,
in the Barents, to the central portion of the Atlantic
Ocean, and the need for two additional destroyers in the
area of indications and warni ngs and conmand and control, as
well as, the lethality that they bring is what we need to
continue to work for to have that conpetitive edge to ensure
that we can continue to deter effectively.

Senator Wcker: Let's expand on the Arctic.

Now, China is an issue for us there, is it not, and can
you el aborate on that.

General Wlters: They are, Senator. Their investnents
in ports is significant.

Senator Wcker: Do we have the capabilities we need to
deter Russia and China in the Arctic presently?

General Wlters: They do, and they are adequate, but
our gromh isn't matching theirs.

Senator Wcker: Yeah, | heard you say adequate, in

response to Senator |Inhofe's question, also, and you

28
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menti oned an answer to a question that the recent budget
nunbers will sl ow down readi ness.

Let ne just enphasize that we have in front of us the
| eadi ng expert in this area of the world and that sort of
nmerely adequate response and sl ow down readi ness is of
concern, | think, to nenbers on both sides of the dais here.

One nore thing. GCeneral Wlters, with regard to the
Coast Guard, they have a statutory m ssion, but, also, they
are very vital in assisting you with our national defense
requirenments; is that correct?

General Wlters: It is, Senator. And as you know, the
Coast Cuard actually recently produced an Arctic strategy.

And | will tell you as the commander of USEUCOM there
were nmany identifications in that strategy that were very,
very hel pful for future security in the Arctic region.

Senator Wcker: Thank you very nuch.

Let's, then, shift, General Lyons, to mlitary sealift
and |l et you el aborate on an answer that you gave to Senat or
Reed. The GAO reported | ast year that, quote, the U S.
flag, fleet shipyards and workforce have been in decline and
the industry, as a whole, faces significant economc
sustainability chall enges, unquote.

Do you agree wth this assessnent and can you di scuss
how a di m nished maritinme industry inpacts sealift do you

agree both, peacetine and conflict.
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General Lyons: Senator, thanks for the question, and
nore inportantly, thanks for being a strong advocate for
sealift noderni zation and the acknow edgnent of how
i nportant sealift is to deliver decisive force.

I think you know that 33 of 50 of our roll-on/roll-off
ships will reach end of |ife over the next 10 years.

I ndustrial base is absolutely of critical inportance and,
you know, we have advocated for an acquired-use strategy,

| argely based on cost. There is a significant difference in
cost differential, but there is also work required in
conversion. So, we work closely with the Navy. | think the
Navy has got the best pulse on the industrial base with
regard to sealift.

Senat or Wcker: How hel pful in your judgnent, are the
maritinme security prograns, stipends, and cargo-preference
| aws in supporting the maritine industry?

CGeneral Lyons: Senator, | think they are critically
I nportant. We nust maintain a U S. flag that is reliable
and accessi ble to support the Defense Departnment needs. So,
those are critical prograns.

Senator Wcker: Thank you, gentl enen.

And, M. Chair, | would yield back 23 seconds.

Chai rman Reed: Thank you very nuch, Senator W cker.

W will put that on your account.

And now, via Webex, Senator G 1li brand.
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Senator Gllibrand: For General Wlters, | want to
just continue along the questions that Senator Wcker and
Senat or Shaheen asked about Ukrai ne.

The U.S. began providing |lethal aid to Ukraine based on
a 2014 authorization, The Support for Sovereignty,

Integrity, Denocracy, Economic Stability of Ukraine Act of
2014. Do you believe that this lethal aid has hel ped
Ukrai ne to deter Russian aggressi on and what changes woul d
you make to our current |ethal and non-|ethal assistance to
Ukrai ne to help further a deterrence?

General Wlters: Senator, | think those contributions
have been very hel pful. The other very notable change that
has occurred in the environment was the establishnment of the
Mul ti national Joint Conm ssion, which provided us an
architecture to be able to take an all-domain, whol e-of -
Gover nnment approach to sone of the chall enge that has
occurred in Wkraine. And fromthat, we were able to
establish the Joint Mlitary Training Goup WUkraine that has
afforded the nations that are signators to the Multinational
Joint Comm ssion, and many NATO allies and partners, to
contribute mlitary training teans to episodically enter
Ukrai ne and help train sonme of their forces to better defend
their sovereign soil

Senator G llibrand: Thank you.

In the EUCOM domai n and in many ot her places, we have

800.FOR.DEPO

www.trustpoint.one
Alders On. www.al dersonreporting.com (800.367.3376)



10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

32

seen over the | ast decade, an increase in the strength and
engagenent with illiberal political forces, including the
rise of totalitarianism authoritarians, increasing pop

| ater of far-right political groups and | eaders. And we
have seen significant denocratic backsliding.

How do you see these forces affecting our efforts to
effectively deter Russia, strengthen our allies, and protect
t he val ues we have shared with our European allies for
decades?

General Wlters: They are an inpact, Senator, and
think we have to take a Wol e- of - Gover nnent, whol e- of -
all i ance, whol e-of -nation approach, and | think inside of
NATO, we have done a better job with that. Nunber one, we
are responsi bl e, given our support to denocratic values to
tell the truth and we continue to profess the truth in the
I nformation environnent and we are gai ni ng canpai gn nonent um
with nations that want to be part of the alliance of NATO

Senator GIllibrand: For exanple?

CGeneral Wlters: Precisely what is going on today in
Ukrai ne with President Zel ensky's open conmments with respect
to his desire to | ook westward and assi st towards NATO

Senator G llibrand: Thank you.

Ceneral Lyons, | want to ask a question about COVID
In the early stages of the pandem c, sone of the early

probl ens were faced were supply chain issues, including

www.trustpoint.one 800.FOR.DEPO
Alders On. www.al dersonreporting.com (800.367.3376)



10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

33

getting PPE distribution, early-stage vaccine distribution.

Based of f your testinony, TRANSCOM has been
I nstrunental in ensuring vaccine distribution was able to
ranp-up through a functioning supply chain. As we continue
vacci ne distribution, what are sone | essons |earned that we
can apply to, inprove our success to prepare for another
pandem ¢ or other world energency?

CGeneral Lyons: M am thanks for the question.

| have to say a large portion of the credit goes to
General Perna and the |lead at Warp Speed and the Federal
Governnent effort. They worked through nost of those
| ssues. W were a supporting effort where they needed
addi ti onal support.

| think there is a task force now, |ooking froma
national security perspective, that supply chain and
i nplications to national security and national defense, and
| think that is a worthy effort just to understand the
source of many of the critical manufacturing and supplies
and where they cone fromand where that supply chain m ght
be vul nerabl e.

Senator G llibrand: Thank you.

Anot her question on supply chain. TRANSCOMis the
| argest user of oil for the Federal Governnment and President
Biden's interimnational strategic guidance |ists the

climate crisis as one of our primary national security
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1 threats. Fromincreased major weather events to migration

2 crisis, due to climte change, fossil fuels should be at the
3 front of our mnds for strategic planning.

4 What is TRANSCOM doing to mtigate these nmassive

5 expenditures of fossil fuels?

6 CGeneral Lyons: Well, ma'am | first stated, to your

7 point, | think the Departnent clearly understands, we all

8 understand that climate is a driver of instability. And

9 where there is instability, there is potential inplications

10 for the Departnent of Defense and for TRANSCOM

11 The secretary has been clear. He is focused on climte
12 as a priority and has stood up, a lead in that area. |

13 think nost of the efforts, to date, you know, you can

14 appreciate the level at the installation, base |evel.

15 | think in the operational energy realm the sheer

16  consunption of liquid energy is going to be a challenge for

17 us, but it is sonmething that we are going to have to take a

18 | ook at.

19 Senator G llibrand: Thank you.

20 Thank you, M. Chairman.

21 Chai rman Reed: Thank you, Senator G | 1i brand.

22 Now, |et me recogni ze Senator Fischer, via Wbex.

23 Senat or Fischer: Thank you, M. Chairnman.

24 And t hen, thank you, gentlenen, for being here today.
25 General Wlters, as you know, the 55th Wng is
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headquartered in nmy state and the [inaudi ble] 135s and their
crews provide a valuable contribution to EUCOM s m ssi on
fromtheir base in [inaudible]. These planes provide a

uni que capability, but | amconcerned that our overall
demand for ISR is greater than the capability that we
currently possess.

For that reason, | believe that it is essential that we
not only continue investing in new | SR networks, but also
that we mai ntain and noderni ze the high-end capabilities
that we currently have in the RC-135 fl eet.

In Iight of that, how does the RC-135 fit into your
current need for ISR, and if you could tell nme overall what
the percentage of EUCOM s ISR requirenents are currently
bei ng net.

CGeneral Lyons: Senator, the RC-135 is pivotal in our
canpaign with respect to indications and warni ngs and what
it does froman intelligence, surveillance, and
reconnai ssance standpoint to see the environnent. And as
you poi nted out, and we di scussed yesterday, | think the
concern we all have is when | egacy systens go out and new
systens come onboard, it has the potential to create a
vacuum t hat the eneny can exploit. And we have to be rock-
solid in that transition to ensure that we have the
requisite SR to be successful.

At USEUCOM we have been very, very pleased over the
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course of the | ast several years with the inprovenent of the
percentage of ISR that we have received. And a |ot of that
Is due to this commttee and the support through the ED .

Ri ght now, we are hovering at about 33 to 35 percent of
our requirenents being supported and conpared to ny brothers
and sisters in other geographical COCOvs, we are in good
shape.

Senator Fischer: kay. Thank you.

CGeneral Lyons, in prior testinony, you said, quote, we
expect power projection will be contested in all domains,
end quote.

Your mssion is uniquely challenging to performin
contested spaces. G ven that fact, what steps are you
taking to nake TRANSCOM nore resilient to these threats?

CGeneral Lyons: Senator, thanks for the question.

We fully acknowl edge that the way we deployed in the
past isn't the way that we will deploy and sustain the force
in the future, and that we nust be prepared to operate under
all donmain persistent attack. In that realm we have | ooked
at a wde range, as we |ook at the global nobility
enterprise, we |look at our potential vulnerabilities and how
to buy down that risk.

One such area, of course, is cyber, but there is a ful
range of areas. And to ny point earlier about the

I ntegration of protection and fires and intelligence with

36
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t he sustai nment warfighting function will be critical as we,
you know, understand that the honeland is no | onger a
sanct uary.

| have been very, very pleased with joint staff work on
the joint warfighting concept. That includes an entire |ine
of effort to elevate the inportance of joint contested, a
j oint concept on contested | ogistics.

Senator Fischer: And do you think it is vital that we
a start to rethink or continue to rethink some of the
fundanmental s that are out there on how we operate | ogistics
support ?

Ceneral Lyons: Senator, | believe that is --

Senator Fischer: And, really, if you could continue on
with that train on exam ning the existing platforns and
nmet hods that we are currently using and | ooking at what is
needed in the future.

CGeneral Lyons: Yes, na'am

I think what is critical as we ook to the joint
war fi ghting concept, so the character of warfare, as it
changes as we continue to evolve, wll drive changes in the
character of logistics in the way that we are able to depl oy
and sustain the force on a global scale. And so, we have
got to continuously adapt.

As we | ook at that and we understand those

I nplications, we may find oursel ves changing the way we
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fight, and I think, you know, in an all-domain set, we wll,
and that will change the character |ogistics. But we nust
be able to, as an inperative, to be able to project and
sustain the force over global distances as a strategic
conpar ati ve advant age.

Senator Fischer: Thank you.

Ceneral Wlters, one aspect of the previous
adm ni stration's realignnent plan announced | ast year was an
increase in forces around the Black Sea. | know the broader
plan is currently under review, but can you tal k about the
I nportance of the Black Sea region and the rationale for
I ncreasi ng our presence there.

General Wlters: Yes, Senator. W produced a NATO
mlitary strategy that stresses conprehensive defense and
shared response in all geographical regions, in all domains,
and seeki ng assi stance from a whol e-of - Gover nnent, whol e- of -
nation. And in Europe, what we discovered is we have, over
the course of the last 3 years, had placed appropriate
interests in the vicinity of the Baltics and we needed to
make sure that we were giving the sane due interest in the
vicinity of the Black Sea, because we had to shore up in al
geogr aphi cal areas.

So, that has been our approach. It has been successful
and we will continue to conprehensively defend with shared

response.
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1 Senator Fischer: Thank you, sir.

2 Thank you, M. Chairman.

3 Chai rman Reed: Thank you, Senator Fischer.

4 Let me recogni ze Senator Bl unent hal .

5 Senator Blunenthal: Thank you, M. Chairman.

6 Thank you all for your service and thank you for being

7  here today.

8 Let me ask, first, on the topic of vaccines, | want to
9 followup on a couple of the questions that have been asked,
10 nost recently, Senator Gllibrand. Do you know how nmany of
11  the nen and wonen under your command, Ceneral, have been

12 vacci nat ed?

13 General Wlters: | do. Senator. W have a Tier 1

14  vaccination plan; Tier 1 constitutes those in mlitary

15 uniform W are at about 46 percent of that force being

16 conpletely vacci nated, those that needed two shots.

17 And we are forecasted, based on the arrival of future
18 vaccines, that have the entire Tier 1 force, those in

19 mlitary in Europe, vaccinated by the mddle of July.

20 Senat or Bl unent hal : Thank you.
21 And have you encountered resistance or hesitancy?
22 General Wlters: I'msorry, Senator. | didn't catch

23 all your question.
24 Senator Blunenthal: Have you encountered resistance or

25 hesitancy anong the nen and wonen in your command, to being
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vacci nat ed?

General Wlters: W have not. W have the traditional
deferral rate that we have seen across all of DOD, but our
percentages are within the norns and, actually, slightly
| ess.

Senator Blunenthal: Let nme ask both of you, as you
wel | know, the Secretary of Defense ordered that there be a
review internally of white supremaci sts and extrem st
| deol ogy. Could you give us your assessnent of whether
there is evidence of that inpact or influence or adherence
anong the nmen and wonen under your conmand.

Ceneral Lyons: Senator, | will take that, and |
appreciate the question, because | think this is a
critically inportant issue, not just for today, but into the
future.

Anything, | any, right, that degrades or violates our
oath to the Constitution is inconpatible with good order and
discipline and mlitary service. | think these first steps
that the secretary has taken, regarding the stand-down, it
may represent a very small percentage, and | guarantee it is
a very small percentage, but it is sonething that we nust
contend wth.

And | think the | eadership of the Departnent is
concerted and focused to deal with it long term W are

taking early steps now, and | think we wll continue to
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persi st on this issue.
Senat or Bl unenthal: How wi despread do you think it is?
You say it is a small percentage. Wat is it your
evi dence?
Ceneral Lyons: Senator, you know, ny evidence is just
38 years in uniformand now on the force. | amnot at al
di sm ssive of the problem and I acknow edge that it does
exist, but | would not characterize it as preval ent.
We have an incredibly talented force of volunteers, the
best America has to offer, but even with a small percentage,

it is worthy of our |eader effort to elimnate it fromthe

force.

Senator Blunenthal: Wat steps do you think should be
t aken?

CGeneral Lyons: Well, Senator, as | nentioned, the
stand-down, | think, is the first step, but out of that, |

know t he secretary got briefed just this past week on sone
of the insights fromthe services.

| think there are other activities in ternms of how we
do selection and recruitnment, how we transition mlitary
menbers out of the mlitary so they are not susceptible to
being recruited. | think there is a w de range of
activities like that, that will devel op over tine as
concerted lines of effort.

Senator Blunenthal: Do you think recruits or enlistees
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shoul d be taken if they are nmenbers of organizations that
espouse views associated with white supremacy or viol ent
extrem sn?

CGeneral Lyons: Senator, | would say, you know, when
you get into sonme of the finer policy issues, there is a | ot
there. There is a lot packed in and I wll defer to the
policy experts on that.

I do know clearly though, as a conmander in the force,
It 1s not consistent, an extrem st behavior activity is not
consistent with the values or the good order and discipline
of what we need as a warfighting organizati on.

Senator Blunenthal: | agree that it nmay be a snal
per centage, under 10 percent, but that is a | arge percentage
interns of its potential inpact on the readi ness and
capability of our mlitary and public support for our
mlitary.

And | wel conme your focus on it and your
characterization of it as a very inportant issue of policy.

So, thank you for being here today and thank you for
your continuing work on this issue, as well as so many
ot hers. Thank you.

CGeneral Lyons: Yes, sir.

Chai rman Reed: Thank you, Senator Bl unent hal

Senat or Rounds, pl ease.

Senator Rounds: Thank you, M. Chairman.
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Gentl enen, |let me begin by thanking both of you for
your service to our country, as well as your famly's
sacrifices. You dedicate your tine to our country:

| would like to begin by just talking a little bit
about the challenge that we see right now, or the possible
chal l enges, with regard to regional conflicts that could
occur. And |let ne begin by just pointing out that nost
recently we have seen sone very aggressive posturing by
both, China, their incursions within Taiwan's airspace with
| arger and larger air groups, and second of all, within the
Eur opean treater and Russia's aggression that we have been
tal king about earlier in the Conmttee neeting.

Can you describe, briefly, the inpact on the ability of
your conmand in your professional mlitary judgnent, to
execute its mssions, if the United States becane engaged in
two conflicts and was forced to defend friends and allies in
the Pacific and in Europe sinultaneously.

General Wlters?

General Wlters: | can, Senator, and it starts with
t he appropriate approach. And we have been very aggressive
in Europe in nmaking sure we understand the inportance of
allies and partners in the process, and the inportance of a
conprehensi ve approach to regions, and the inportance of not
getting myopic in one region and forgetting what is

happeni ng i n anot her region.
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1 And t oday, when you ask nost mlitary nenbers in Europe
2 if they have a concern, for exanple, about Russia, it wll

3 take at least 5 seconds to where the foll owon question is,
4 do you have a concern about China?

5 So, inthe mlitary, and in our nations, we have don't
6 to think big and we have to take a whol e-of - Gover nnent,

7 whol e-of -nation, whole-of-alliance approach to the security
8 challenges that we face, and we have to be willing to | ook

9 up and out of each one of our areas of responsibility.

10 Senat or Rounds: GCeneral Lyons?

11 General Lyons: Sir, | think there should be no

12 question to our commtnent, as General Wlters nentioned, to
13  our |ongstandi ng val ues-based international order, whether
14 that is in the East or the West.

15 From a TRANSCOM perspective, we assess, continuously, a
16 full range of plans and contingencies that we m ght have to
17 respond to. W look within the construct of the planning

18 gui dance and the plans thensel ves.

19 | woul d be happy to discuss any of those kinds of

20 questions in a closed hearing if you would |ike, sir.

21 Senat or Rounds: Both of you would agree that prior

22 planning for the appropriate concerns or the different

23 situations is critical, fair enough?

24 General Lyons: Yes, sir. Absolutely.

25 General Wlters: Yes, sir.
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Senator Rounds: Let's talk a little bit about what
happens if we actually do have conflicts with either Russia
or China. They would al nost certainly attack the ports and
the airfields, where we would | oad and unl oad troops and
equi pnent .

CGeneral Lyons, what are the inplications of a contested
envi ronment on bul k fuel capacity distribution and storage,
as well as traditional |ines of comunication. Are we
effectively working contested | ogistics in our planning and
taking into account the attrition into our war ganes yet?

General Lyons: Senator, we have begun that journey and
| appreciate the support of this conmmttee on that effort.
Again, | ampleased with the joint staff's work,
particularly as a concept, a joint concept for contested
| ogi stics that is under devel opnent to address these kinds
of issues that we will then subsequently, you know, shape
forces on, enforce capability work down the road.

We know that we nust be able to sustain and project a
force under all domain persistent attack. That is
fundanentally different than the way we have operated and
integrated logistics in the past.

Senator Rounds: Ceneral, the way that you answered ny
question, and | appreciate the way that you positioned your
answer, saying that we have begun to |look at it, | presune

t hat woul d suggest there is a concern about the way that we
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our planning for that type of a contested environnent.

Ceneral Lyons: Well, Senator, | think that is
accurate. | think, you know, as the character of warfare
changes, so should the character of |ogistics and that we
have to adapt to be able to continue to be successful.

And what made us successful previously won't
necessarily make us successful in the future, so we have
work to do.

Senat or Rounds: Thank you.

My tinme has expired. Thank you, M. Chairman.

Chai rman Reed: Thank you very nuch, Senator Rounds.

Let ne recogni ze Senator King, via Wbex.

Senator King: General Wlters, within the |ast hour
since this hearing has been going on, a story broke about a
| eadi ng spokesperson for one of the Russians, who is al so
known as an advisor to Putin saying that war in WUkraine is
I nevitable. That it will start wwth a nmajor cyberattack
that could extend to this country. And that they have
overwhel m ng conventional forces and that there is no way

that they could be repelled fromtaking over the Donbas, if

not, the entire country. | viewthis situation as extrenely

concer ni ng.

And | guess ny first question is, what is your reaction

to the assertion that a Russi an i nvasion of Eastern Ukrail ne
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woul d be unst oppable. Do the Ukraini ans have the weapons,
t he manpower, the training, wherewithal to stop such an
attenpt at annexation?

| have got to say, | ammghtily rem nded of 1938 and
t he Sudetenl and | and and the German plans of |iberating
Ger man- speaki ng people, and very simlar things we are
heari ng from Russi a.

Talk to me about the preparation and the readi ness of
t he Ukrai nians and our readiness to assist them

General Wlters: Senator, as we discussed yesterday in
our phone conversation, we are very concerned in Ukraine and
their partners in the region are doing all that they can to
| nprove their posture with each and every second as we go
forward. So, if, in fact, and i ncursion does occur there,
their best position for success, not only within their
forces, but within their partners within the region.

Senator King: But, do you believe they could repel an
I nvasi on that started next week?

CGeneral Wlters: | certainly do, over time, Senator.

Senator King: Well, | think they, let ne followup a
nonment about the political situation in Eastern Ukraine.

There are many Russi an-speaki ng people there. Wuat is
the political nood in terns of |oyalty to the country of
Ukrai ne versus loyalty to Russia?

General Wlters: Senator, | would categorize it as
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high loyalty to the country of Ukrai ne.

Senator King: So, the claimthat Russia would be
| i berating these people from Ukrai nian control woul d not
resonate in that region?

General Wlters: | agree, Senator.

Senator King: And have we conmunicated to the
Russi ans, the fact that this, an invasion of this type woul d
be net with a response that woul d serve as a deterrent?

It seens to nme the only thing we have right nowis
det errence.

General Wlters: Senator, | know that our senior
civilian | eadership has had conversations with their
col l eagues in Wkraine and at the senior |level with Russia.
And | amnot privy to all of the words that were exchanged,
but | know that our senior |eaders expressed deep concern
about the robust activities in the Donbas and Cri nea.

Senator King: Thank you.

Let ne turn for a nonent. We nentioned China and
Russia nunerous tines in this hearing. Do you see evidence
I n our AOR of increasing relationship cooperation, if you
wll, between Russia and Chi na?

Traditionally, at least in the recent past, they have
been adversaries, or at |east suspicious of one another. Do
you see a devel opi ng cooperation, which would be inam cable

to our interests?
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General Wolters: Senator, | see cooperation that is
superficial at best. | think it is higher at the tactical
| evel , soldier-to-soldier, and | think it is pretty close to
phony at the strategic |evel.

Senator King: Well, that is reassuring. | hope that
IS correct.

General Lyons, you and | had an exchange | ast year
about the potential gap in coverage for refueling. You have
testified this norning that you feel that that is resol ved.

| just want to sort of nail that down, that if called
upon, whether it is in the next 2 years or the next 5to 7
years, which is, as | recall, the potential gap was
identified, that we will have sufficient refueling resources
to project [inaudible.]

CGeneral Lyons: Senator, | amconfortable and aligned
with the Air Force's position on this. | think that we have
to be clear that Boeing has a long way to deliver a full
operational, capable weapon system But in the interim I
amconfident with the capability that exists to neet day-to-
day, conpetition, and crisis.

Senator King: | amjust about out of tinme, but does
Boei ng have, do we have a date for final delivery and
depl oynent of the KC- 467

General Lyons: Senator, on that, | wll defer to the

Air Force froma progranmatic perspective. The | atest
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estimate was in anticipation of at |least a renedy for the
renmote visual system next, which is a [inaudible] sonetine
in the 2023 time frane, at the earliest.

Senat or King: Thank you.

Ceneral Lyons: It would take sone tine to field the
capability after that.

Senat or King: Thank you, gentlenen, both for your
t esti nony.

And | yield back, M. Chairnman.

Chai rman Reed: Thank you, Senator King.

And | et nme recogni ze Senator Ernst.

Senator Ernst: Thank you, M. Chair.

And, gentlenen, thank you very nuch for being here
today. W certainly appreciate your commtnent, not only to
the nen and wonen within your conmands, but to the
furtherance of our objectives.

So, | will start with you, General Wlters. Thank you
very nmuch. Let's talk a little bit nore about our force
posture in Europe.

And Senator King had just nentioned Russia and the
conventional forces that they have avail able, but beyond
just their human resources, they have other capabilities.
They continue to nodernize their mlitary. They have a
nunber of advanced capabilities like ballistic and cruise

m ssiles; certainly, sophisticated air defenses, as we know,
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antisatellite weapons, electromagnetic, and cyberattacks. |
could go on and on and on in this area.

But these capabilities do pose a challenge to the
United States, as well as our allies in that region, and,
certainly our partners in the EUCOM ACR

They al so continue with their operations, short of open
conflict. So, they are operating in that gray zone area.

So, how are we adapting our forces to those
capabilities, to those challenges to push back on Russia and
what they m ght be able to do in the future?

General Wl ters: Thank you, Senator.

We are maximzing our focus to win in the conpetition
phase and we are doing it through a very deliberate fashion
to continue to inprove our ability to see the environnent
wi th indications and warni ngs, our ability to respond with
solid command and control, and our m ssion command, which
characteri zes the readi ness of our forces forward bei ng able
to conduct all donain operations that take into account the
desired effect, at the appropriate tine and place of our
choosing, to ensure that we can be nost effective. And that
approach affords us the opportunity to counter nmany of the
| ssues that you just nentioned.

And we are also, in accordance with the Nati onal
Def ense Strategy, working very diligently to increase our

conpetitive edge in the areas of indications and warnings,
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Senator Ernst: And so, with that deliberative
approach, you are working with our allied forces, as well,
to make sure that we are nested, and each able to | ean on
one anot her, our strengths and for our weaknesses to provide
pushback?

Ceneral Wlters: Absolutely, Senator.

The strategic alignnent that is required is al so
outside of the mlitary dinensions, so froma whol e- of -
Gover nnment, whol e-of -nati on approach, whole-of-ally
approach, we are doing the sane.

Senator Ernst: Geat. And one thing, of course, being
a National Guard nenber and being, of course, very aware and
supportive of our State Partnership Program you have
menti oned the Baltics, but | was heavily involved in the
Bal kans with our State Partnership Programw th Kosovo. And
so, | would just |like to hear about how this program has
been beneficial through your area of responsibility and how
we can nmaybe further strengthen those partnership prograns.

General Wlters: Senator, we are very proud of the
State Partnership Program essentially yours in Kosovo. And
as you well know, the 632 nmenbers of the United States that
we rotate into K-4, many cone fromyour state.

It is a success area in NATO  The NATO secretary

general is very, very fond to ensure that we keep a | aser
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focus on the Bal kans. But the biggest challenge that we
face, and one that we have achieved a success wth, is to
make sure that the lanes in the road are perfectly
under st ood between K-4 and the evol vi ng Kosovo security
force. And the exist on our Kosovo force has been

i nstrumental in ensuring that we each understand our | anes.

Senator Ernst: Yes, very good.

And just very briefly, and thank you, sir, General
Lyons, | amgoing to push on the KC-46s, as well. | was
able to go out on a flight yesterday in a KCG46 with a
nunber of others in a delegation, and it was a great
opportunity to really see this aircraft in notion and worKk.

We refueled sonme F-15s. W have got sone great boom
operators that are training a ot of really wonderful airnen
out there.

This is very inportant to the lowa National CGuard, as
well. We still have the KC-135s. W are anxious to nove
into the KC-46, as soon as Boeing does a little nore work.

How i nportant are your planning noves involving the
National CGuard, are you considering the rotation for the
Reserves, the National QGuards, their deploynents, and so
forth, as we nove those 46s into those areas?

Ceneral Lyons: WMa'am first of all, thanks for taking
time out on Andrews yesterday on the ranp there; really, it

j ust acknow edges what an inportant capability aerial
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I would just say it is largely m sunderstood or
under appr eci ated how nuch the Quard, and the Reserve, but
especially the Air Guard, contributes every single day to
the output of the aerial refueling force el enent, whether
t hat be overseas or here in the Continental United States on
short script alert, day-in and day-out.

| think my own opinion is that the Air Force does this

best in terns of total force integration. It is conpletely
integrated today. It is absolutely seamess to ne. Wen |
see units out there in the field, | can't tell the

di fference whi ch conponent they bel ong to.

Senator Ernst: Fantastic.

CGentl enen, again, | appreciate it very nuch.

And, M. Chair, | yield back. Thank you.

Chai rman Reed: Thank you, Senator Ernst.

Let me recogni ze, via Wbex, Senator Manchin.

Senat or Manchin: Thank you, Chairman.

And | want to thank both of you for your service and
your famly's commtnent and service to allow you to have
t he opportunities you have to serve our country.

General Wlters, the European Union and Russia have
built a strategic partnership in trade, energy, clinate-
change, research, education, culture, and security. The

crisis in Wkraine in Crinea I ncreased sanctions from bot h,
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the U S. and the EU for various violations, but they seemto
have |imting effects.

So, ny question would be, understanding that the EU is
Russi a's biggest trading partner, and Russia is the EU s
fourth-largest, are sanctions in their current forns, a
vi abl e solution to shaking Russia's actions?

Ceneral Wlters: Senator, | certainly agree that they
contribute in shaping Russia's actions. | will also say
that living in Europe, that there is a high degree of
convergence at the strategic | evel between what the EU does
and what NATO does. And for a mlitary nmenber in charge of
mlitary operations, | will tell you that the EU
contributions in the area of transportation are a
significant boost in our ability to effectively deter.

Senator Manchin: A threat that | have been essentially
concerned with the continui ng devel opnent of the Nord Stream
Pipelines. Not only do they create a further dependence,
they inure on Russia gas and oil, but they al so bypass
transit countries |ike Ukraine and our former Soviet NATO
menbers, which could hold them host age.

And your thoughts on that?

General Wlters: | share your concerns, Senator. It
I s disconcerting to see what happens with the Nord Stream 2
Pipeline and to the countries that it reaches out to, and

the fact that several of those countries are going to
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potentially be put in the position to where their reliance
on Russian fuel is far higher than it should be. It is of
grave concern to ne.

Senator Manchin: Do you have any thoughts on how you
woul d see a potential arnmed conflict playing out with our
allies, whose economes are closely tied to Russia?

Ceneral Wlters: Well, | would pronote those nations
to do what we do in the United States, which is to store
fuel appropriately, and we do with other nations within
Europe, to ensure that we have the resources within to be
abl e to execute whatever it is we need to do to effectively
deter and def end.

Senat or Manchin: You all or coordinating with them on
t hat ?

General Wlters: W are, Senator.

Senat or Manchin: Thank you.

Ceneral Lyons, the |evel of coordination, fleet
readi ness in response to conbatant commanders in |ight of
the COVI D pandem ¢ that TRANSCOM provided i s nothing short
of amazing. You all have done an unbelievabl e job.

The global threat fromrational and irrational states
and actors is ongoing and the rise of humanitarian support
and crisis mtigation is enduring.

What are your concerns, if called today, to support an

arnmed conflict, force projection, sustainnent, and
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redepl oynent in a contested environnment, while al so
potentially called to support humanitarian m ssions on
opposite sides of the world?

General Lyons: Senator, thanks for the question.

We know that the security environnment is changing quite
rapidly. W know that the character war is changing quite
rapi dly, and so should the character of |ogistics.

So, our ability to project the force and sustain the
force over global distances is a key strategic conparative
advantage that we all understand that we nust maintain. And
as we | ook at that ability and we ook at it fromthe |lens
of a potential adversary and where there m ght be
vul nerabilities, particularly vulnerabilities of
consequence, we are, in fact, addressing those and buying
down the risk associated with those.

I amconfident in our ability today to continue to
project the force and support the force at our tine and
pl ace of choosing. But | do acknow edge that we have work
to do, too, in anticipation of a nore sophisticated
adversary.

Senator Manchin: Let ne followup on ny fina
guestion. General Lyons, you spoke about the success of the
DOD s power projection capabilities being contingent on
three critical elenments: global nobility posture, gl obal

transport capacity, and gl obal command and control
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i nt egration.

So, what allied shortfalls currently exist to support
these critical requirenents if called to surge forces in
support of the EU?

General Lyons: Senator, | have to say | amvery
pl eased with the enornous constellation of |ike-m nded
allies and partners that support the United States security
i nterests abroad. W could not operate the global nobility
enterprise successfully wthout the access, base, and
overflight that they provide in the extension of our broad
and far-reaching |logistics networks. So, | amvery pl eased
with our allies and partners and | amvery grateful for
t heir continued support.

Senat or Manchin: And | know you spoke about Russia's
novi ng on Ukraine and Crinea, again, and everything, and we
wish all of our allies and under your all's |eadership the
nost success, because that would be severely critical for
all of us if they continue to do what they are doing right
NOW.

But, again, thank you, both, for your service.

General Lyons: Thank you, sir.

Chai rman Reed: Thank you, Senator Mnchin.

Now, |let nme recogni ze Senator Sullivan.

Senator Sullivan: Thank you, M. Chairnman.

Gent | enen, wel cone. Thanks for your service.
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1 I wasn't planning on raising this question, but since
2 it cane up from Senator Bl unenthal, you know, | just got
3 back froma week in Marine Corps Reserve training. It is

4 great to serve with such fine nmen and wonen, but this notion
5 of extremsmin the mlitary, which is thrown about as if we
6 know nunbers, Senator Bl unenthal thought 10 percent.

7 I think that is irresponsible. | have asked fromthe

8 mlitary, data. | want data before we besmrch the entire

9 mlitary.

10 The under secretary nom nee cane before this hearing

11 and said he was going to, quote, stanp out system c racism

12 wthin the ranks of the mlitary.

13 | asked him have you ever served in the ranks?
14 No.
15 Sir, we need to be careful with this. | amjust going

16 to ask you two generals, who have served your whol e career,
17 do you think that we have this giant group of extrem sts in
18 the mlitary?

19 I think it is one of the best group of Americans who
20 aren't racist. You have knuckl eheads in every organization
21 in the world, including the Congress of the United States,
22 by the way, but there is this narrative now that we have al
23 these extremsts in the mlitary. | think it is ridiculous
24 and we need to see data before we start throw ng out issues

25 |ike 10 percent.
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How t he hell does he know it is 10 percent?

What do you think, gentlenen, do you think you serve in
the mlitary wwth a bunch of extrem sts?

CGeneral Wlters: Senator, | concur with you. | don't
see a giant portion of the popul ation.

Senator Sullivan: It really nakes ne mad.

The Washi ngton Post, U S. senators besmrching the
whol e dam force irresponsibly.

General, what is your experience?

W have bad people, of course, idiots in any
organi zation, but this is getting ridiculous when a U. S.
senator is saying 10 percent. \Were the hell did he get
t hat nunber?

One in 10, is that your experience, Ceneral?

CGeneral Lyons: Senator, let ne be perfectly clear. |

think we have the finest mlitary our world has every known.

| think we --
Senator Sullivan: M, too. | believe that. And |
serve with them | just got done serving with them
General Lyons: And, sir, | appreciate that.

W have the best that Anerica has to offer. There is
no question in nmy mnd, after 38 years of service.
believe that in ny heart. | knowit to be true.

A very small, very small, and --

Senator Sullivan: Ten percent? Do you think it is 10

60
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percent ?

CGeneral Lyons: Senator, | don't think it is 10
per cent.

Senator Sullivan: Not even close, is it?

Ceneral Lyons: As a matter of fact, | don't think
there has been any data on the topic.

| can just tell you fromexperience, it is extrenely
small. And even though it is extrenely small, and it m ght
be less that 1 percent, | don't want to be dism ssive of --

Senator Sullivan: No, of course, not.

General Lyons: -- potential degradation in the ranks.
But it should not characterize the joint force.

Senator Sullivan: Do you think it is 10 --

Ceneral Lyons: W have an enornously powerful and
prof essional joint force.

Senator Sullivan: Thank you, Ceneral.

Do you think it is 10 percent, General? Anything in
your experience, in your 30, 40-plus years as a genera
officer inthe mlitary?

General Wolters: Senator, | certainly agree that
nunber i s too high.

Senator Sullivan: Yeah. So, here is what | think the
Secretary of Defense needs to do. Enough of this. W need
data. W need data, okay.

And besmirching the whole dam force, reserve or
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active-duty, whether it is a U S. senator, the Wshington
Post, which wites a story on this once a day with no dat a,
or the under secretary, who wants to be under secretary. |
hope he is not going to be under secretary for the Pentagon.

W need to start using data and not this BS. That is
shanmeful , because | don't even think it is close to 10
per cent .

And you know what we are going to do?

This is going to nake people not want to join the
mlitary. So, anyway, | was not going to even go on this
topic, but when | hear a U S. senator throw out 10 percent,
It isridiculous. Ridiculous. It is really pissing ne off.

Sorry, M. Chairman. | have had enough of this.

Ceneral, can | talk about the Russian Arctic buil dup
and what we need to be doing about it. You know, we have
this strange scenes of COCOMs.

The actions in the Arctic, which is kind of EUCOM but
PACOM owns a |l ot of the forces. STRATCOM has a big
responsibility in the Arctic, as well, with mssile defense.

VWhat is happening there, it is even nore than what has
happened recently, and what should we be doing about it and
how to think about it?

Ceneral Wlters: Senator, | think the canpaign
momentumis traversing in the correct direction with your

great work over the source of the |ast several years, all of
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the services, US., DOD, and the NATO mlitary strategy, and
t he NATO concept for deterrence and defense of the Euro-
Atlantic, specifically, points to the fact that we nust have
an Arctic strategy of. And nations' mlitaries are
constructing strategies that nust include considerations for
activities in the Arctic.

So, the focus and the architecture and approving the
resources are grow ng. As you well know, through your
initiatives, we were able to house P-8s and F-35s at
Keflavik for the first time. And nost of what they did was
contribute to IMNiIin the vicinity of the Arctic. Getting
the NATO nations, not just the ones that are about the
Arctic, but all involved in the process, is occurring
t hrough the good work of the secretary general.

So, | believe that our canpai gn nonentumis going in
the correct direction fromstrategy all the way down to
requiremnents.

Senator Sullivan: Geat. Thank you.

Thank you, M. Chairman.

Chai rman Reed: Thank you very nuch, Senator Sullivan.

Let me recogni ze via Wbex, Senator Rosen.

Senat or Rosen: Thank you, M. Chairman.

| appreciate this hearing, and thank you, gentlenen,
for your lifetine of service to this nation. W really

appreciate everything that you do every day and to all of
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t he servicenen and wonen that are under your command.

| would like to speak a little bit today about
cybersecurity. Qur NATO allies, of course, essential to
ensuring U S. cybersecurity. W rely on our allies to
Har den our collective defenses agai nst frequent and
sophi sticated cyber threats.

Cybersecurity has increasingly beconme an area of focus
for NATO They are holding the | argest cyber exercise in
the world to operating a cyberspace operations center in
Bel gi um

And so, Ceneral Wlters, what are the nopst significant
cyber threats that the NATO alliance is facing and can you
specifically describe to us the cyberthreat our European
allies are facing from Russi a.

CGeneral Wolters: Thanks for the question, Senator. It
IS a great topic.

Il will tell you that | excited about the fact that from
a U S perspective, our force presentation by selecting one
mlitary commander to lead mlitary cyber, as General
Nakasone, has allowed us to deliver clear direction and
gui dance to the nations that assist us in the cyber arena.

Qur manning is nmuch better for all of the organi zations
and the organi zations have continued to perpetuate the
nations, the inportance of inproving the nations' cyber

hygi ene in the network.
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As you well know, we still have a long way to go in
t hat area, but nations have to make sure they understand
what it takes and how to defend their networks, and then
they can start to get into other areas of cyber deliverance
of forces. And | amvery, very pleased to report that the
manni ng across NATO nations, with respect cyber activity has
| nproved and the focus on inproving our cyber hygi ene has
I nproved across the European nati ons.

Senator Rosen: That is terrific, because that was one
of my next questions. What are you doing to prevent,
mtigate, and recover froma the cyberattacks?

But how can we help you? How should we be coordinating
or what do you think you need to coordinate better with our
allies in this real n?

CGeneral Lyons: |In Europe, we have had the opportunity
to lead fromthe front with respect to the US. C 2 in
cyber. W have had the opportunity with the assi stance of
ot her European nations to educate the nasses on the
appropriate steps forward in the cyber domain, and we are
getting great support fromall nations who want to protect
t hei r networKks.

And | think what we have to do is just continue the
canpai gn nonentumthat we are currently on and continue the
advocating from NATO and the EU in the cyber domain.

Senator Rosen: Thank you.
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And General Lyons, | want to kind of continue on this
and talk a little bit about cloud mgration. TRANSCOM was,
of course, the first DOD organization to nove its cyber
capabilities and conmand and control applications to a
comrerci al cloud environnent.

So, Ceneral Lyons, can you provide us with an update on
the mgration to the services to the cloud. Are you
experience the benefits and what are you feeling about this?

What are your best practices? Again, what do you think
you need going forward as you nove everything to the cloud
and begin to work there?

Ceneral Lyons: Well, Senator, thanks for the question,
and | appreciate the topic here because | think we all
acknow edge that cyber is a warfighting domain and the
adversary does get a vote, particularly, across a gl obal
nobility enterprise. W know we have a very |arge and
soneti nmes vul nerabl e attack surface, and so we are working
very diligently for that.

One of the areas, as you nentioned, Senator, is our
di gital nodernization effort, and part of that is noving to
the cloud. W have been able to nove well over 20 systens
into the cloud. W are still working on virtualization in
sone of these areas, but we are making progress.

And | think the cloud does offer sone capability and

sone security that we don't have today, and so | am pl eased
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with the progress we have started, but we still have a ways
to go.

Senat or Rosen: Thank you. | appreciate that.

And | actually would like to nove on and talk a little
bit about TRANSCOM COVI D- 19 operati ons.

And so, Ceneral Lyons, can you describe the short-term
and long-terminpacts that COVID-19 has had on TRANSCOM s
operations as you are noving forward, and how have you
supported DOD s mi ssion to respond to COVI D 197

CGeneral Lyons: Thank you, Senator. | have to say |
couldn't be nore proud of the entire TRANSCOM team at the
way that they have been continuing to operate throughout the
entire past year, despite COVID, while taking the
appropriate mtigation neasures.

You know, early on, we really didn't know what we
didn't know, but | amso proud that the folks were able to
continue operations. W were able to continue to support
the force. Things |Iike Defender Europe continued to a
| esser degree, in supporting General Wlters. W were able
to support the Whol e-of - Governnent effort. W were able to
conduct aerosol testing for comrercial aircraft, for
exanple, to determne that the probability for viral spread
aboard a commercial airliner wth HEPA filtration and high
velocity air exchange is extraordinarily |ow.

So, we have been able to work a wide range of things to
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i nclude trading capability to nove highly infectious
patients. So, | really amincredibly grateful for the team
to be able to face that |evel of adversity and just continue
to drive on.

Senator Rosen: Thank you. And | yield back.

Chai rman Reed: Thank you, Senator Rosen.

Senator Craner?

Senator Craner: Thank you, Senator.

Thank you, Cenerals, both for being here, for your
servi ce, of course.

And right up front, let nme just associate nyself with
the statenents and the questions from Senator Sullivan, and
| appreciate your direct responses.

It is tinme for menbers of this conmttee and | eaders
t hroughout our governnent, as well as, well we can't expect
much fromthe nedia, but to start being accurate in
representing that you represent the best of us, not the
wor st of us, the absolute best of us, and that is ny
observation with the vast, vast ngjority of the mlitary nen
and wonen that | encounter. So, thank you for your service.

| will pass on asking you, CGeneral Wlters, about ISl

| appreciate your previous response to that. | have sone
concern about the gap being created between the | egacy and
new prograns. | want to be a part of the solution, so |

appreci ate your previous [inaudi bl e] answer.
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I will ask you about our outstandi ng nucl ear deterrent
and its role currently, as well as going forward. W know
that our credible deterrent is our Triad and it is the
backstop for nost of our operational plans around the world.

And so, ny question for youis, if the United States
didn't have this credible, nuclear unbrella, would that
change Europe's conventional and nucl ear posture?

General Wlters: Yes, Senator. | think that it woul d.

Senator Craner: And what could be the ramfications of
them not feeling safe under our unbrella?

General Wlters: | think that is the precise issue.

We are not certain to the degree that we woul d be
conprom sing safety and security.

Senator Craner: And if that happens, could we see, as
t hey changed their posture, you know, the build-out of nore
allies, of course, | guess?

General Wlters: That is possible, Senator.

Senator Craner: Al right. Then, | amgoing to shift
gears to a question of energy and ask you, specifically, do
you believe that conpletion of Nord Stream 2 woul d affect
the | everage that Russia has over our allies in Europe?

General Wlters: Yes, Senator.

Senator Craner: Because one of the other peripheral
| ssues that we sonetines get into around here, besides our

mlitary and posture and lethality and readiness is climte,
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and these aren't uninportant issues. | don't want to make
t he case that they are.

But | want to give you just one exanple that concerns
me alittle bit. And | have asked many of your peers about
the nonitoring, for exanple, of Iran's tankers and the
novenent of energy, fossil energy in unsafe parts of the
wor | d.

But in Europe, we know of a situation a few nonths ago
where ENG E Power in France, it nade a | arge contract of
liquid, natural gas fromthe United States. The French
Governnent intervened in that.

And the French Governnent used to be a wholl y-owned,
the sole owner of ENGA E Power, now they are just |like a 49
percent owner, but they intervened and said, no, we want to
continue buying natural gas fromMadimr Putin. And | am
not sure that a | ot of people around here grasp the
magni tude of a decision like that.

Now, your issue, of course, is national security, as is
our conmttee's but for those people who want to sort of
transfer their climate guilt to other parts of the world,

t hey should know that Vladimr Putin's natural gas, sent by
pi peline, to places |ike France and ot her European countries
and allies of ours, emts about 40 percent nore greenhouse

gases than liquid natural gas produced and shi pped fromthe

United States of Anerica.
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So, | guess what | would just request, and you give
very good, direct answers to questions, but we need to help
our public better understand the ram fications of clinmate
change, globally, and the ram fications of hurting Arerica's
donmestic production of fossil fuels that are in high demand
around the world, and not let our allies, much | ess
adversaries, be dependent nore on not as clean, and
certainly not as secure energy resources as the
alternatives, the Anerican, clean, good energy is.

So, with that, | thank you and yield back.

Chai rman Reed: Thank you, Senator Craner.

Let ne recognize via Wbex Senator Hi rono.

Senator H rono: Thank you, M. Chairnman.

CGeneral Lyons, | have a series of questions for you
regarding sealift recapitalization. |In your statenment to
the coonmttee, you point out that 33 of our 50 roll-on/roll-
off sealift ships are scheduled for retirenent in the next
10 years.

In last year's NDAA, Congress took steps to bol ster the
Governnent's ability to purchase additional, used foreign
vessel s currently on the narket to augnent the ready reserve
force.

First question. How do you assess the progress of
recapitalizing our sealift fleet?

CGeneral Lyons: Senator, thanks for that we.
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W spent a lot of tine on this issue with the Secretary
of Defense over the |last year and, in fact, the CAPE issue
teamwas fornmed around this specific issue. | think we are
headed in the right direction. W have got good alignnent
on the strategy. W have good support here on The H Il wth
t he aut horizations, and we have some noney in the program by
t he Navy.

W are, quite frankly, about a year behind where |
wanted to be. Wwere | wanted to be is, at the end of |ast
fiscal year, to be able to buy the first two authorized
ships. Those ships that were authorized by the NDAA a
coupl e of years ago.

So, due to some GAO protest issues with the Maritine
Adm ni stration, that has been delayed a little bit, but they
are on track for the end of this year to deliver those first
two shi ps.

Senator Hi rono: Sane question, General.

Do the current sealift recapitalization plans
sufficiently address the potential for attrition during a
conflict with a near-peer conpetitor |ike China or Russia?

CGeneral Lyons: Senator, as we work through the
Mobility Capabilities and Requirenents Study, as directed by
Congress, one of the things that we are doing is we are
considering the future joint concepts, as well as the

contested environnents that we know in the future that we
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will face. And we were able to assess and do assess sone
| evel of elevated risk in ternms of our ability to deliver
the force on the tinelines that the conbatant conmanders

desire, and so we are evaluating that now

By policy, we don't force size based on attrition, but
we do acknow edge the significant inplications of attrition
I n any environnent and the need to mtigate that largely
through the integration of nore warfighting effects.

Senator H rono: Therefore, is your answer that the
assessnents that you are doing currently address the
attrition issue that | asked you?

Ceneral Lyons: Senator, we do. W address |osses. W
do.

Senat or Hi rono: Thank you.

The | ast question for this series, Section 3511 of |ast
year's NDAA provided authority to establish a tanker
security program subject to the results of a nmobility
requi renments study.

Do you have sufficient results fromthe study to
determ ne whet her the tanker security program needs to be
i mpl enent ed?

General Lyons: Ma'am we do. W have | ooked at this
as, again, a congressionally directed study in concert wth
some ot her agenci es.

We do support, and | appreciate the congressi onal
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interest initiative here to create a tanker security
program W think there is value in that. W think it is
| nportant that we have assured access to U S. flag tanker
capacity in the event we have to surge the nobility
enterprise and the liquid energy enterprise.

Senator Hirono: Again, General Lyons, | have a
question relating to the fact that TRANSCOM i s wor ki ng
closely with industry partners |like SpaceX on the viability
of using space-based vehicles to rapidly deliver tine-
sensitive logistics anywhere in the world.

Now, this technology is a potential gane changer,
especially in the Indo-Pacific AOR where commanders are
confronted with the [inaudi ble] of distance and tine when
novi ng peopl e and parts fromone | ocation to anot her.

Ceneral Lyons, can you provide ne with a genera
overvi ew of the progress being nade in space nobility and
what additional authorities you need from Congress to help
you accel erate this technol ogy.

General Lyons: Thank you, ma'am for highlighting
this. W are working closely with a couple industry
partners to include SpaceX, as well as the Air Force and the
Space Force on this particular issue.

If you think about the possibility, and it is a rea
possibility, to be able to take a C-17 load, let's say 18

short tons, and [ift it off and deliver it anywhere on the
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1 face of the global in |less than 60 mnutes, that is a real

2 possibility in the near term

3 Senator H rono: Uh-huh.

4 General Lyons: Wile we can't scale that to the entire
5 requirenent of the nobility enterprise, to your point,

6 Senator, it offers us great flexibility and | think it

7 creates a powerful dilemm for potential adversaries to nove
8 very, very rapidly.

9 Senator Hrono: You will let us knowif you need

10 further support or authorization to nove us on this use of
11 this, developnent of this technol ogy?

12 Ceneral Lyons: | wll, miam And we do not at this

13 tinme but thank you for that.

14 Senat or H rono: Thank you, M. Chairnman.

15 Chai rman Reed: Thank you, Senator.

16 Let ne recogni ze Senator Scott, please.

17 Senator Scott: Thank you, Chairnmn Reed.

18 General Lyons and General Wlters, thank you for your
19 service. Thank you for your willingness to defend the

20 integrity of the nen and wonen that put on the uniform and

21 defend the freedons of this country.

22 General Wlters, while ny primary concern i s our

23 mlitary's readiness to deal with the threat of Communi st
24 China | remain, of course, concerned about Russia's attenpt

25 to destabilize NATO, harbor allies, harmthe U S. through
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cyberattacks, and catch up to sone advanced weaponry, |ike
hyper soni ¢ weapons.

I am al so aware of the potential for Communist China
and Russia to cooperate to try and harm us.

How ready do you believe your command is to deal with
these threats and do you have all that you need, and are you
concerned, as | am about a potential cut to the Defense
budget under President Biden?

General Wlters: Senator, we are concerned about all
of those threats. | would certainly agree with every one of
the categories that you pointed out.

And as a traditional comander, | wll tell you that |
have a force that is getting faster every day and is better
postured every day, but | amnever satisfied with our speed
and posture. So, in that light, our current resourcing is
adequate to conti nue the canpai gn nonmentumto inprove our
i ndi cati ons and war ni ngs, our command and control, and our
readi ness.

Wth a reduction in those resources, froma nonetary
perspective, there would be a correspondi ng degradation in
our capabilities in those areas, but as we speak, it is
adequate and ny suspicion going forward is we will have
adequate resources to effectively win in conpetition, if
call ed upon to do so, but we nust continue to inprove our

conpetitive advantage in all of the areas that you point out

800.FOR.DEPO

www.trustpoint.one
Alders On. www.al dersonreporting.com (800.367.3376)



10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

7

and | have pointed out froman INWand C2 perspecti ve.

Senator Scott: So, if you saw a cut in the Defense
budget, where would you, what could you cut? If you had to
cut things, what would you reduce?

CGeneral Lyons: | would have to take an increnental
reduction in I SR that supports INWand an increnental
reduction in C2 that supports our ability to respond. And I
woul d make sure that we are adequately resourced in the
m ssi on command/ r eadi ness ar ea.

Senator Scott: How long would you be able to do that
before you have to say to yourself, you have to say that you
are not ready?

General Lyons: It just depends on the nagnitude of
reduction. And | don't have the specifics on what the
budget | ooks |ike, but based off the evidence | have today,
| think froman adequacy standpoint, we are in good shape
for the near term between now and the next 5 years.

Senator Scott: Thank you.

General Wlters, it is clear that Turkey and their
Presi dent Erdogan is not our ally and not a hel pful nenber
of NATO | net with Erdogan during the Trunp
Adm ni stration, along with sone of ny Republican coll eagues
to question himabout Turkey's ongoing relationship with
Russi a.

| also introduced legislation calling for sanctions
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agai nst Turkey for purchasing the S-400 air and mssile
def ense system for the Russian Federation and questi oned
their menbership in NATO

It seens |ike only Erdogan has gotten worse. So, what
are your thoughts about the value of our relationship, is
there any value today in that relationship with Turkey, and
where do you see it going?

General Wlters: There is, Senator.

And | nust tell you, they renmain a vital NATO partner.
And | will tell you froma mlitary perspective, Turkey
bei ng the second-largest mlitary in NATO they do assi st
greatly in the area of deterrence and conpetition.

One of the reasons we have such trust, mll-to-mll, is
the fact that the 2300 U S. mlitary nenbers that |ive and
wor k each day on Turkish soil are appointed and gi ven
trenendous force protection consideration on behalf of the
Turkish mlitary, and that trust, froma mll-to-mll
perspective, remains very, very high.

But, as you said, they are no |onger part of the F-35
paremwith the United States. W understand the deci sions
that they made with respect to the S-400. W understand
that sanctions are working. W will continue to work with
our mlitary counterparts, but as we nove forward, mll-to-
mll, they remain a very vital NATO mlitary partner.

Senator Scott: D d you ever understand why they did
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the S-400. | nean, does it make any sense to you?

General Wlters: Senator, it doesn't, unless it was
for the purport of an easy way out with respect to noney.

Senator Scott: Thank you. | yield back.

Chai rman Reed: Thank you, Senator Scott.

Senator Peters, please.

Senator Peters: Thank you, M. Chairman.

And thank you to both of you for your service to our
country.

General Wolters, | would like to begin with Nagorno-
Kar abakh and what has happened there. |n your opening
statenent, you alluded to the conflict only in the context
of Russia's role in brokering a cease-fire agreenent in
Novenber .

But | woul d appreciate your thought as the Suprene
allied conmander in Europe on sone of the broader
i nplications for regional stability. Forenmost on ny mnd is
the fact that Azerbaijan is still reportedly holding and
submtted 200 Arneni an prisoners of war and civilian
captives.

Now, | understand that is a diplonmatic endeavor,
out si de of your area, but as soneone who is in charge of
wat ching that area very closely, | would |ike your view on
this unresol ved issue.

General Wl ters: Nagorno-Karabakh has renai ned a
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frozen conflict. Cbviously, the activities over the course
of the last 90 days were concerning to all.

One of the things that | will nention, Senator, that |
was proud to report on was the active involvenent of nmany
NATO nations on the periphery to assist in calling for
reconciliation and cal mng of tensions. And when it was all
said and done, | think nost of us believed that this was
curtail ed sooner, rather than later, as a result of the
Interests of nations in the region to be part of the
solution in rectifying the situation.

There still is an unfortunate set of circunstances that
remain with result to the territorial disputes, but there is
goodness in the fact that observation posts have been
created jointly by nations in the region and our ability to
see the environnent is greater than it was in the past.

And we still have a lot of work in front of us to neke
sure that from an observation perspective, nations agree
that the contracts that they signed up to, so that we can
achi eve nore productive canpai gn nomnentumw th respect to
achi eving peace in the NK

Senator Peters: Thank you.

And froma mlitary perspective, Azerbaijan's drone
fleet certainly highlighted the vulnerabilities of
sophi sti cated weapons systens, tanks, radar, surface-to-air

m ssiles. They did not have specific drone defenses.
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Has that affected how you prioritize counter-UAS
capabilities in your area of responsibility and what nore do
we need to do?

General Wlters: | would tell you, Senator, | wasn't
surprised with any of the actions that took place in the
vicinity of Nagorno-Karabakh with respect to snmall UAS.

And as you know, based off of many of your good efforts
in the past, we have a dedicated DOD lead with respect to
countering small UAS. And | think the canpai gn nonentum
Wi th respect to conprehensive mssile defenses inproving so
that we can counter that kind of capability against us.

So, we are traversing in a productive direction wth
respect to countering small UASes.

Senator Peters: WlIl, |I had an opportunity to see sone
of that just recently down at the Yuma Proving Ground, where
| know you are testing those defenses and opening up a
process fromthe Departnent of Arny, at |large, but clearly,
you are weighing in heavily in the need for that type of
technol ogy to be devel oped and | appreciate that.

CGeneral Lyons, your opening statenent reported a
partnership with Cyber Conmand to inplenment Zero Trust on
your network environnment. But TRANSCOM relies heavily on
commercial shipping, in fact, if |I |look at the nunbers, 95
percent for steady state sealift operations, 90 percent for

ground study state and conti ngency operations, and 90
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percent for air passenger.

So, ny question to you is, how do you ensure that your
network environnents for your commercial partners are
secure?

General Lyons: Yeah, Senator, it is a great question.
W spend a lot of tine both, on the DODI N and off the DODI N,
non-DODI N activities that were relied upon to understand the
full spectrum and potential vulnerabilities of the nobility
enterprise.

W work closely with our industry partners. W have
consi stent cyber hygi ene | anguage in all of our contractual
rel ationships, but nore inportantly, we are talking to the
seni or | eadership of all of these conmpanies. They submt
sel f-assessnents on their own cyber scorecard. W provide
i nsights on best practices. W are devel oping a proof of
principle for a third-party verification. Basically, this
woul d be a new venture for the Departnment to be able to
confirmor deny cyber conpliance.

So, a lot of work going on in that area. The industry
partners are comng along, but | don't want to m sl ead
anybody to think that we sone magic ability to protect
comrercial partners, you know, from an advanced, persistent
t hreat .

| woul d say, though, that it is bigger than cyber. So,

resiliency is bigger than just the network's piece; it is
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al ways the physical redundancy that we have to ensure that
we have many readi ness providers. And | amconfident with
our approach on that.

Senator Peters: And | realize you facilitate annual
sel f-assessnents based on just guidelines.

Where do those assessnents lead and is there nore work
that we need to do?

CGeneral Lyons: Senator, there is always nore work to
do. They cone in at an executive level. W share those
assessnents. You know, for exanple, a concern m ght be
mul ti-factor authentication froma cyber hygi ene
perspective. So, we have those conversations.

And | find that inside the boardroons today, they are
very cyber savvy and commtted and want to inprove their
cyber posture. So, we are pushing on an open door.

Senator Peters: Al right. Thank you.

CGeneral Lyons: Yes, sir.

Chai rman Reed: Thank you very nuch, Senator Peters.

And now, via Wbex, Senator Bl ackburn, please.

Senat or Bl ackburn: And thank you, M. Chairman.

And to each of you, | say thank you for your service.
We are greatly appreciative of the work that you do every
si ngl e day.

CGeneral Lyons, let ne stay with you there on the

cybersecurity issue. TRANSCOM does have a hi gh vol une of
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strategic nmobility mssions on a daily basis. There are
varying |l evels of detail, and so as we nove personnel and
equi pnent in and out of the different theaters, how nuch of
that information is comuni cated across cl assified versus
uncl assi fied networks?

CGeneral Lyons: Senator, | think you are aware that a
great deal of our information is noved across unclassified
net wor ks, both inside the DODI N and, of course, outside the
DODIN. That, unto itself, isn't the risk, as long as we
take the proper procedures and we take the proper neasures
of defense and encryption. But a |arge vol une of our
I nformati on does nove across uncl assified networks.

Senat or Bl ackburn: Yes. | think it would be hel pful
I f we had a percentage and kind of a threshold at which we
need to classify sonme information for force protection
pur poses, but not others for conmunicating pertinent details
to uncl eared personnel. And that is an area that, in ny
opi nion, would deserve a little bit of a deeper dive and a
bit nore attention.

CGeneral Wlters, the NATO 2030 Report identifies China
as a full-spectrumsystemc rival. And that is sonething
that | agree with.

It is not only, Chinais not only a security threat, a
national security threat, they are an economc threat. The

way they are pushing the belt and road initiative, the way
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t hey are pushing debt diplonacy, is sonething that shoul d
gi ve us pause, because it all feeds in to the civil mlitary
fusion that they practice and live every single day.

So, since the last tine you were before us at this
comm ttee and we discussed this issue, what has, and | am
guoting now, your comrent, expanding the conpetitive space,
nmeant to EUCOM specifically, for conpetition wth China,
and how does this affect the work we do, the nobility,

i nteroperability with our NATO allies?

CGeneral Wlters: It has a large effect, Senator, and |
think it is an inperative as a result of the way that China
conducts activities for us to take a whol e-of - Gover nnent ,
whol e-of -nation, whole-of-mlitary, all-domain approach,
with the activities of China, as they bear on the European
conti nent.

And we are obviously very concerned with respect to
Huawei 5G. We are obviously very concerned with respect to
the proliferation of their involvenment wwth sea ports and
air aerial ports, and we are paying very, very close
attention to all of those areas.

And in the informati on environnent, as a nati on who
supports denocratic value as being part of an alliance that
supports denocratic val ues, we have told the truth about
some of the sacrifices that nations would make if they

continue to endeavor in 5G And we have actually seen a
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little bit of the turning of the tied with respect to China
and 5G Huawei; nations electing to go in different
di rections.

And as you well know, Senator, the United Kingdom nade
that call recently and ran a position on the European
continent where several other nations are doing the sane.

So, vigilance remains sky-high and there nust be an all -
domai n approach and a Wol e- of - Gover nnent, whol e-of - nati on
approach to this chall enge.

Senator Bl ackburn: Well, | agree with you on that, and
| fully believe that if we | ook at China as a probl em set
that we need to solve, that we are going to have to have our
allies working with us as we |ook at this as a probl em set.

So, talk with ne for just a couple of mnutes, if you
wi ||, about any physical roadbl ocks that may be there or any
regul atory roadbl ocks that would prohibit novenent of our
forces within your AOR or participation with NATO allies or
their working wwth us on the China issue.

General Wlters: No roadblocks at this tinme, but what
we are anticipating is an increase in our demand to share
across secret information lines. And as you know, Senator,
we are working very, very hard to nmake sure that we can open
up the aperture froma policy perspective with our NATO
allies and partners to be able to share certain classified

I nformati on.
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W are achieving success in that area with the
assistance of this Commttee, and I would ask for your
conti nued endorsenent in that area to nmake sure that we can
you adequately share information so that we can nake headway
agai nst malign influence on behalf of China.

Senator Bl ackburn: Well, | agree with you on that
| ssue, and that goes back to the first question for Cenera
Lyons about the amounts of information that we are
conmuni cating over classified and secure versus unclassified
and secure networks and the dangers that that may put our
men and wonen who are currently deployed in various areas,
that that nmay open themto.

Again, we will continue to work with you all on these
I ssues. | have got a couple of other questions that we wll
submt for the record.

But | see Senator Duckworth is there waiting, so | wll
yield back ny tinme and all ow her to get her questions in,
al so.

Chai rman Reed: Thank you, Senator Bl ackburn.

Let nme recogni ze, via Webex, Senator Duckworth.

Senat or Duckworth: Thank you, M. Chairman, and thank
you to ny good friend from Tennessee.

| have discussed a portion of our supply chain and
| ogi stics enterprise with the Departnent's civilian

| eadership |li ke Secretary Austin; Deputy Secretary of
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Def ense, Kath Hicks; and fornmer Under Secretary of Defense,
El l en Lord.

| have discussed it with service chiefs |Iike the
commandant of the Marine Corps and wi th conbat ant
commanders, |ike Admral Davidson. | have discussed
advancenents and we need to nmake it a logistics capabilities
in order to face the uni que chall enges of the Indo-Pacific's
geography and the threat of real great-power conpetitors.

| have been dogged in ny insistence that we will not be
able to build a conmbat credible deterrence if we do not have
the | ogistics capability and capacity to realistically
support our conplex mlitary operation, no plans.

And ny takeaway fromall of ny conversations with these
many seni or Defense |eaders is that they do recognize the
probl em and they do agree with ne, and yet, it still doesn't
seemto nme |ike we are adequately investing in
Transportati on Conmand and our strategic |ogistics
capabilities.

CGeneral Lyons, it is good to see you today. 1In this
setting, as nmuch as you can, in this unclassified setting,
what are your biggest capability and capacity chall enges,
shortfalls, and how can Congress best resource
Transportati on Conmand to provide the power projection and
sust ai nnent necessary for our operational plans?

General Lyons: Senator, let ne just say, thank you for
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your strong, unwavering advocacy in understandi ng the conbat
credi bl e deterrence assurance, and really to be able to
respond to when, that is so critical in our |ogistics
enterprise. So, | really do appreciate that.

I know you are aware of several ongoing initiatives
that we are getting support fromThe H Il on to include
sealift recapitalization that we tal ked about. W have
al luded to sonme work inside the Departnment on the joint
concept for contested | ogistics.

| think this begins a very inportant journey for us
across the joint force as a Departnent to fully integrate
the logistics just the sane, a warfighting functi on anongst
all warfighting functions that will be critical as we nove
forward and evol ve to support both, the changi ng character
of warfare and adjust the character of |ogistics to support
t he changi ng character of warfare. So, a ot going on there
to include sonme of discussions you just heard on cyber.

So, we are, in fact, getting good support and good
col | aborati on across the conbatant comrmands, across the
services, and inside the Departnent on the things that I
think are nost inportant, and we will continue to push on
t hese kinds of issues, whether they be nobility or liquid
energy to ensure that we can continue to project and sustain
the force well into the future

Senator Duckworth: Thank you.
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| want to also followup on the discussion with cyber
that you just had with ny good friend from M chi gan, Senat or
Peters. | would like to take it alittle bit further and
ask, does TRANSCOM currently have systens in place that wll
eval uate conpliance with, you know, the cyber requirenents
in terms of your civilian partners, and how do you enforce
cybersecurity nmeasures with commerci al partners?

CGeneral Lyons: Yes, nma'am Thank you.

For the commercial partners, which, we have nmany, and
good partnerships, that is currently done through a self-
assessnment and self-reporting. W are working a proof of
principle for a third-party to be able to validate
conmpliance. That is a relatively newinitiative. W have
to work through the feasibility of that, but we are working
i n that regard.

I would say, though, today, we have a very transparent
and a good | evel of coordination with our industry partners.

And as | nentioned, | think we are pushing on an open
door when it cones to cyber risk and cyber coaching. So, we
are getting good cooperation, and at the end of the day, we
ensure we don't have any single points of failure inside of
our industry networKks.

Senat or Duckworth: Thank you, GCeneral.

And by the way, | just want to congratul ate you on your

remar kabl e career. And | happen to think that |eaving from
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the TRANSCOM is a Capstone. It is ny personal interests, ny
personal, or | consider it critical to our force and | just
want to thank you for how well you have done there and how
wel | you have noved our capacity, both capacity and
capability forward, when it cones |ogistics for our national
security, and | just, you know, can't thank you enough for
your dedication, and | hope you have a wonderful early part
of your retirenent, where you said you are going to go
underground and hide for a little while. Enjoy that, but
then | amsure that we will see you around again sonetine
soon.

Thank you so nuch

CGeneral Lyons: Thank you, ma' am

Senat or Duckworth: Thank you for your services.

Chai rman Reed: Thank you, Senator Duckworth.

Now, via Webex, let nme recogni ze Senator Cotton.

Senator Cotton: Thank you, M. Chairnman.

Thank you, gentlenen, both for appearing in front of
us.

General Wlters, | want to ask you a couple nore
guesti ons about UWkraine. An alumi of your organization,
General Ben Hodges, recently said in a television interview
on a Wkrainian television network, that he believes Russia's
buil dup in the Donbas area is not specifically about Donbas,

but nmore about control over the Black Sea coast, and, in
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particular, trying to take control of Mariupol and naybe the
Sea of Azov to stage Russia for further incursions onto the
northern Bl ack Sea coast.

Have you seen that interview and, if so, what do you
t hi nk about General Hodges' comments?

General Wlters: Senator, | haven't seen the
interview, but I, too, am concerned about the protection of
sovereign activity in the vicinity of the Black Sea.

Senator Cotton: This was a concern back in 2015, was
it not, after Ukraine first nade its incursion into the
Donbas, that they were going to try to establish just a
little | and bridge to Crinea?

General Wlters: It was, Senator.

Senator Cotton: And that would be deeply harnful, not
only to Ukraine, but also to Anerican interests in the Bl ack
Sea region and to Europe, nore broadly?

General Wolters: | concur, Senator.

Senator Cotton: Thank you.

And | know that you were asked a question earlier about
the Javelin mssiles that we had provided to Ukraine, but to
be very exact, those are in possession of the Ukrainian
Armed Forces and they are entitled to use those anywhere in
their country and in any manner that they need to defend
their territory?

General Wl ters: That 1s correct, Senator, for
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def ensi ve purposes, to defend their sovereign territory.
Senator Cotton: The Javelin is, by definition, really,

a defensive weapon, wouldn't you say?

CGeneral Wl ters: | woul d, Senator.
Senator Cotton: | will relay one story fromthe sumer
of 2015. | was with the fornmer chairman of the comm ttee,

Senator McCain in Eastern Ukraine, about as close as they
would et us get to the Donbas, and we net with sonme troops
fromthere and then [inaudible] mlitia forces that had
rallied to come to Wkraine's defense. One had been a forner
tank conmander. He was a lieutenant in the Red Arny and now
he was a battalion commander of this new unit.

And he was pleading with us at the tinme to convince the
(bama- Bi den adm ni stration to provide Javelins, which they
never did, and he said to us, M. Senators, we do not need a
hundred Javelins to use agai nst Russian tanks. W only need
one Javelin to use against a Russian tank and then Russi an
tankers wll think tw ce.

Wul d you agree with that, is that a folk wi sdom from
the battlefield, General Wlters, that one Javelin used in
Eastern Ukrai ne agai nst a Russian tank woul d make a | ot of
Russi an tankers think tw ce?

Ceneral Wlters: | would, Senator. And | think you
have accurately characterized the spirit of the Ukrainian

Arned Forces.
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Senator Cotton: Al right. Thank you.

Let's nove on to another matter about maki ng Russi ans
think twce. 1In the wake of Russia's devel opnent of new
I nt er medi at e-range nucl ear forces capabilities, and al so our
| ong overdue departure fromthe internedi ate-range nucl ear
forces treaty, how should NATO posture our forces to adapt
to Russia's mssile threat and what, in particular, should
we do to focus on mssile defense and | ong-range strike
capability in the European theater?

CGCeneral Wlters: Senator, as we tal ked before, we have
to continue to inprove in indications and warnings and
command and controls so that we can see deeper into the
envi ronnent and respond quicker. And if we wll continue to
| nprove those areas, with respect to the integrated air and
m ssil e defense prograns that we have in work today, we w ||
keep the canpai gn nomentumtraversing in a productive
di recti on.

Senator Cotton: Are our NATO partners confortable with
t he devel opnent of those kind of |ong-range strike
capabilities that can hold at risk, Russian targets that
previ ously woul d have been within the I NF prohibited range
of mssiles?

CGeneral Wlters: Senator, | would characterize the
environment as the nations are becom ng nore confortabl e as

t hey gain greater understanding of the operational
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envi ronnment .

Senator Cotton: And it sounds to ne like that is a
pretty strong asymmetric advantage in our favor, isn't it,
unless we think that Russia is going to start putting
I nternmedi ate-range mssiles in Cuba or the Bahamas or Canada
or Mexico, since we can put them up agai nst Russia' s border,
and they have a nmuch harder tinme doing it on our border?

General Wolters: | concur, Senator.

Senator Cotton: It seens to ne like there should be a
| ot nmore of them [inaudible].

Thank you, General.

Thank you, Ceneral Lyons, as well, for your service.

Chai rman Reed: Well, thank you, Senator Cotton.

Let ne now recogni ze Senator Kelly.

Senator Kelly: Thank you, M. Chairnan.

And t hank you, General Wlters and General Lyons.

Il want to talk a little bit about Defender Europe 2020.

You know, we trained, so we are prepared to fight and
prepared to win and, you know, this exercise is one to test
our power projection. And | want to hear, you know,
directly fromthe two of you, what were the top | essons
| earned from Def ender Europe 2020, and then how does t hat
translate into changes in the exercise in, well, comng up
in this year?

General Wlters: Senator, the nunber one | esson
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| earned was the val ue of Arny pre-positioned stockpiles and
depl oyabl e air base systens. W have studied this issue for
a long tine.

And noving at speed with arge formations across the
Atlantic and getting to point, ultimately, to the
appropriately foxhole with a ready force nenber is a
chal l enge. Having those pre-positioned stockpiles in place
was very beneficial, nore so, than we coul d have possibly
| magi ned and Def ender Europe 2020 verified that.

Senator Kelly: General Lyons?

General Lyons: Senator, thanks.

It is such a critical exercise. W got a |lot out of
it. | would say a couple of things. It denonstrated,
clearly, in ny own view that we do, as a nation, have the
ability to nove imediately, if required, and as well, as
followit wth a decisive force.

Now, as | | ooked at that operation and | | ooked at what
General Wlters was trying to do and our ability to get the
force to him | felt very confident in our ability to
support his efforts and deliver the decisive force, when
needed.

Senator Kelly: So, the sealift capability, was that
t est ed?

I know we had nore Air Force and Navy resources. |

assune, some MSC resources involved. Do you feel you have
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the sealift capability you need if this was not an exerci se,
but was, if we wound up in a real fight?

Ceneral Lyons: Senator, | think you are aware, | nean,
we have a lot of work to do on sealift. On sealift
recapitalization, we have an aging fleet, a fleet that has
sonme readi ness chal | enges, and we have a plan to renedy that
over the next decade.

But in this particular exercise with nmultiple vessels
underway, sone commercial, sonme organic, sone, frankly,
being integrated in the handoff between the second fleet and
the sixth fleet in Europe, it was a great test of our
ability to coordinate the transatlantic crossing, and |
t hi nk very successfully so.

But, to your point, we have work to do on the broader
sealift capacity, because in a surge environnment, we are
making quite literally hundreds of turns, as opposed to
dozens of turns, as in this case:

Senator Kelly: General Wlters, further, in Eastern
Europe, the infrastructure was designed for [inaudible], you
know, nations, Russian tanks, vehicles, troops. That
i nfrastructure was designed for things to be travelling east
to west.

Did that cone up in part of the exercise in
transporting our equi pnent and troops to the east through

I nfrastructure that was not designed for this?
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GCeneral Wlters: It did, Senator.

And with the contributions of the European Deterrence
Initiative over the course of the last 3 years, we have had
the opportunity to specifically work on road and rail from
west to east, Central Germany to the Baltics, and down to
Hungary, Romani a, Bul garia, and we have made i nprovenents in
those areas, but it is still a challenge and it is sonething
we wll continue to work on, but we were nuch faster than we
had been in the past.

Senator Kelly: And then, finally, how, in the
remai ning m nute, how would you |like to see this exercise
change to make sure we are as prepared as possible for, you
know, real engagenents?

Ceneral Wlters: W are in the process of executing
Def ender Europe 2021, and one of the changes that we are
making is a cyber red team and we want to inprove our cyber
def ensi ve posture for the duration of the exercises involved
wi t h Def ender Europe 2021.

Senator Kelly: Thank you. And | yield back.

Chai rman Reed: Thank you, Senator Kelly.

Let me recogni ze Senator Haw ey.

Senat or Hawl ey: Thank you, M. Chairman.

Gentl enen, thank you for being here. Thanks for your
servi ce.

Ceneral Wlters, let me start wwth you. Secretary
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Austin has reaffirnmed the position fromthe prior

adm nistration that China is our pacing threat. G ven that,
what is your view on what you could do in EUCOMto free up
mlitary resources that the Departnent can use in the pacing
t heater.

General Wolters: Senator, ny first response is, what
we do to effectively conpete and deter against the nearest
peer conpetitor in Europe, Russia, is effective in deterring
Chi na, because of the connectivity between the two nations
and the willingness of both nations to engage in malign
I nfl uence agai nst the United States and agai nst NATO

So, those activities that allow us to continue to be
successful in the conpetition phase against Russia are al so
hel pful agai nst China. Wether it is pointing out the poor
path that a nation could take with respect to Huawei 5G or
whether it is pointing out what China is doing, with respect
to equities in sea ports and aerial ports investnent in
Eur ope.

Senator Haw ey: Let ne ask you a little bit about
NATO. There has been a lot of talk about NATO s role in
hel pi ng confront China.

Wuldn't it be helpful if European allies did nore to
bear the burden of confronting Russia so that we could focus
on what has been identified as our pacing threat, the pacing

t heater?
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General Wolters: No argunent that here, Senator.

And | pleased to report the nations are. They are very
fixated on Russia. There is no hesitancy on their part, and
| say that as a result of producing the first NATOmlitary
strategy in over six decades. | amfinalizing the concept
for deterrence and defense of the Euro-Atlantic area, all of
those codify the challenges that we face against a malign
Russia, and the nations have been very willing to produce
national plans that take into account Russia as a malign
i nfluencer in the region.

Senator Hawl ey: Let ne just ask you about our NATO
allies spending in 2014, | think it was, that NATO nenbers
agreed to spend 2 percent of their GDP, respective GDPs on
def ense by uh 2024.

Now, the world has changed a | ot since 2014 and, then,
particul arly, again, our own assessnent of what is now our
pacing threat, froma mlitary standpoint and given the
changed security environnent, do you think that 2 percent is
still the right target?

General Wlters: | do, Senator.

Il will tell you that from 2016 to 2020, the 10 nati ons
today that neet the 2 percent mininmum all the nations
I nvol ved have al |l owed us the opportunity to get our hands on
$130 billion extra and that rmakes a big difference with our

ability to effectively conpete.
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Senator Hawl ey: Has EUCOM done any analysis as to that
2 percent nunber, why you still that that 2 percent is still
the right nunber?

General Wlters: Sir, EUCOM has done an analysis. OSD
has done analysis. And NATO has conducted anal ysis. And
the feedback we get is the [inaudi ble] pledge of 2 percent
Is still viable with respect to our ability to build a
conpetitive edge agai nst near-peer conpetition in Europe.

Senat or Hawl ey: Wuld you be willing to share that
anal ysis, Ceneral, in the appropriate setting with this
comm ttee?

General Wlters: Yes, sir.

Senat or Hawl ey: Thank you very nuch.

Let ne just ask you before | nove to General Lyons
about ISR, you nentioned in your opening statenent that
tinmely indications and warni ng woul d be key for deterring or
bl unti ng any Russian attack in the Baltics.

O course ISR is a very scarce commodity. Qur forces
in the Pacific also need a tinely indication to warnings of
possi bl e Chinese attacks. They are particularly with regard
to Tai wan.

So, ny question is, how do we mnimze the anobunt of
Anmerican ISR that is needed in your AOR so we can nonitor
Russi an forces effectively, but also continue to bol ster our

deterrent posture in PACOW
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General Wlters: Continue to communicate to our allies
and partners that the criticality of ISR and what it
contributes and indications and warni ngs, and what it
affords you the opportunity to do in the conpetition phase
before you get to crisis or before you get to conflict. And
in NATO, we are having success with that.

Senat or Hawl ey: Very good. Thank you.

CGeneral Lyons, in nmy remai ning seconds here, let ne ask
you a logistics question. Admral Davidson has recently
warned that China mght attenpt a fait acconpli with regard
to Tai wan, nuch sooner than we m ght otherw se previously
have anti ci pat ed.

Just froma |ogistics standpoint, what do we need to
do, what do we need to have in place in the Indo-Pacific in

order to blunt such an offensive as quickly as possible, in

your Vview?
Ceneral Lyons: Well, Senator, you know, Admira
Davi dson has done sonme great work out there. It still has

to continue in ternms of the posture, not just in the
Pacific, but the global posture. So, it is so critical that
we think of things globally and not just |Indo-Pacific.

And our gl obal posture that offers us a physical, a
tenporal, and a psychol ogi cal advantage to be able to cone
when we are told to cone. And | have a high degree of

confidence that we can do that.
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I know that there is still work to be done as we evol ve
and | ook at the future character of warfare, but | think we
are on the right path to support Adm ral Davidson's
initiatives.

Senator Hawl ey: Very good.

My tinme had expired. | will have another question or
two for you for the record.

CGeneral Lyons: Thank you.

Senat or Hawl ey: Thank you both, gentlenen, for your
servi ce.

Chai rman Reed: Thank you, Senator Haw ey.

Senat or Tuberville, please.

Senat or Tuberville: Thank you very nmuch, M. Chairnman.

Real quick, | know we are running out of tine, but I
want to thank you for being here today and your service.
Just real quick, rest on arsenal, you know, we have quite a
bit of things at [inaudible] and you have done a great job
for the Anerican people. It looks |ike we have a great
chance to have the Space Command.

General Lyons, how inportant is that, how inportant is
us to nove up in Space Cormand? | know we are on the infant
ages of that, but what do you think about Space Conmand?

Ceneral Lyons: Senator, | think space is clearly a
warfighting domain and | think that the creation of

SPACECOM as well as Space Force was critically inportant to
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the way we are going to operate in the future and, you know,
the character of warfare as we see it.

| really can't comment on the basing issue, whether it
Is Huntsville or sone other location. | will confirm just
being an Arny officer and know ng what is at Huntsville, how
critical that installation is to Arny operations and ot her
operations and such.

Senator Tuberville: Thank you.

General Wlters?

CGeneral Wolters: | couldn't agree nore. Space is a
warfighting domain. It is a pretty |arge domain, conpared
to all the others, and it is inportant that we understand
how to effectively conpete and deter and defend in space.

Senat or Tuberville: What do you think about | aser
warfare? | have seen sone exanples of that in Huntsville
and what we are devel opi ng.

Do you see a future for that?

General Wlters: | do, Senator, and | think we need to
continue down that path. It is not cheap, but the return on
I nvest ment due to accuracy and lethality is very powerful
and very conpel |ing.

Senat or Tuberville: GCeneral Lyons?

Ceneral Lyons: Senator, | would just say, you know,
anyt hi ng that provides us an opportunity to bring | ethal

effects on an adversary to conpel themto our will on aware
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national security, that just has to remain on the table.

Senat or Tuberville: Yeah. Thank you very nuch.

And just a quick comrent about earlier about sone
things that were said in here. | was disturbed a little bit
about using the word white suprenmaci sts.

You know, | ama football coach in trade and |I build
teans. And that is what you are doing, you are building a
team and we have people in here that has never been on a
team They don't understand, you recruit people and you
make sonet hing out of them and you bring themtogether. And
you fight together. You live, you eat, you breathe. And
they cone fromall econom c backgrounds, every culture in
t he worl d.

Sone people don't understand that. They don't
understand it. And you will elimnate them as | did when |
was coaching. |f you had sonebody that wasn't a teach
menber, they were gone.

You do the sane thing in the mlitary. W need to stay
out of that. W need to leave it to the generals, which, to
me, are the coaches, the people that do it, that get it
done, that know these young nmen and wonmen. Because,
listening to our people the other day that we were
I nterview ng about a draft in the future, which, you know,
we want to draft wonmen. We think they serve a great

pur pose, and we are going to need it.
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You know, this is a dangerous world. A dangerous
world. And we can't sit back and try to tear our mlitary
down from people that really know nothi ng about it, about
building a team So, | want to apol ogize for that. | nean,
that was not a good sel ection of questions, | don't think,
for this coonmttee, because we are here to help. W are
here to give advice if you want advice, but not give you
advi ce so you have to take that.

And, you know, | was disappointed in Secretary Austin.
You know, he is a [inaudible] guy. And first thing we do is
we stand-down, stay out of it, personally.

And in terns of publicly, you know, | know being a
coach, there are a lot of things you didn't bring up
publicly. You kept it within, because you have got to
buil d, because you divide if you start bringing it up
publicly.

So, we need a killing machine and we are going to need
one, just looking at what is com ng. So, thanks for your
service and your building, and hopefully, we can keep people
out of what you all do and do great, because you are the
defense of the world, not just the defense of this country.

Thank you very nuch.

Thank you, M. Chairnman.

Chai rman Reed: Thank you, Senator Tuberville.

And t hank you, gentlenen, for your testinony.

www.trustpoint.one 800.FOR.DEPO
Alders On. www.al dersonreporting.com (800.367.3376)



10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

107

It is the intention now to adjourn the public hearing
and qui ckly nove to SVC-217 for a classified session.

Senator Inhofe: Can | nmake one?

Chairman Reed: | will yield to Senator |nhofe.

Senator Inhofe: WIlIl, let ne just thank the coach for
his coments. Right on.

Chairman Reed: |If there are no further comments, then
the hearing is adjourned.

[ Wher eupon, at 11:50 a.m, the hearing was adjourned. ]
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